

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Progress in Biophysics & Molecular Biology

Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 96 (2008) 60-89

www.elsevier.com/locate/pbiomolbio

Review

# Multi-scale computational modelling in biology and physiology

James Southern<sup>a,\*</sup>, Joe Pitt-Francis<sup>b</sup>, Jonathan Whiteley<sup>b</sup>, Daniel Stokeley<sup>c</sup>, Hiromichi Kobashi<sup>d</sup>, Ross Nobes<sup>a</sup>, Yoshimasa Kadooka<sup>d</sup>, David Gavaghan<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Fujitsu Laboratories of Europe Ltd, Hayes Park Central, Hayes End Road, Hayes, Middlesex UB4 8FE, UK

<sup>b</sup>Computing Laboratory, University of Oxford, Wolfson Building, Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3QD, UK

<sup>c</sup>Structural Bioinformatics and Computational Biochemistry Unit, Department of Biochemistry, University of Oxford,

South Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3QU, UK

<sup>d</sup>Fujitsu Laboratories Ltd, Nakahara-ku, Kawasaki 211-8588, Japan

Available online 11 August 2007

#### Abstract

Recent advances in biotechnology and the availability of ever more powerful computers have led to the formulation of increasingly complex models at all levels of biology. One of the main aims of systems biology is to couple these together to produce integrated models across multiple spatial scales and physical processes. In this review, we formulate a definition of multi-scale in terms of levels of biological organisation and describe the types of model that are found at each level. Key issues that arise in trying to formulate and solve multi-scale and multi-physics models are considered and examples of how these issues have been addressed are given for two of the more mature fields in computational biology: the molecular dynamics of ion channels and cardiac modelling. As even more complex models are developed over the coming few years, it will be necessary to develop new methods to model them (in particular in coupling across the interface between stochastic and deterministic processes) and new techniques will be required to compute their solutions efficiently on massively parallel computers. We outline how we envisage these developments occurring.

© 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Mathematical modelling; Simulation; Multi-scale; Multi-physics; Cardiac modelling; Ion channel

## Contents

1.	Introduction			
2.				
	2.1.	Quantum		
	2.2.	Molecular		
	2.3.	Macro-molecular		
	2.4.	Sub-cellular		
	2.5.	Cellular		
	2.6.	Tissue		
	2.7.	Organ		

\*Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 208 606 4527; fax: +44 208 606 4539. *E-mail address:* James.Southern@uk.fujitsu.com (J. Southern).

0079-6107/\$-see front matter © 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2007.07.019

	2.8.	Organ system	65
	2.9.	Organism	66
	2.10.	Environment	66
	2.11.	Other levels of organisation	67
3.	Multi	i-scale modelling in biology	67
	3.1.	Formulation	67
	3.2.	Linking between scales	68
4.	MD o	of ion channels	69
	4.1.	How ion channels function	69
	4.2.	Scales of ion channel modelling	70
	4.3.	The quantum level	70
	4.4.	The molecular level	71
		4.4.1. Brownian dynamics	72
	4.5.	The macro-molecular level	72
		4.5.1. Elastic network models	72
		4.5.2. Coarse-grained MD	73
	4.6.	Multi-scale ion channel modelling	73
	4.7.	MD simulation packages	74
	4.8.	View to the future.	74
5.	Heart	t modelling	74
	5.1.	Cellular level	75
	5.2.	Tissue level.	76
	5.3.	Organ level.	77
	5.4.	Multi-scale and multi-physics simulators	77
	5.5.	Single physics simulators	79
	5.6.	Future development	81
6.	Discu	ission	83
	Ackn	owledgements	84
	Refer	rences	84

## 1. Introduction

The biomedical sciences have undergone a revolution over the past decade. Advances in biotechnology, underpinned by a massive leap in computational resources, have provided a wealth of biological data at all levels of biological organisation. At the molecular and cellular levels the various genome and proteome projects (States et al., 2006; International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2005; Snow et al., 2005), coupled with advances and innovations in microscopy and biological imaging, have provided descriptions of unprecedented detail of the constituent parts and basic structures of living organisms. The bulk of these data to date, particularly at the molecular level, has been obtained from *in vitro*, and usually static, laboratory experiments. Although increasingly dynamic changes are also being considered, experimental complexity usually restricts observations to single, or very restricted, spatial and/or temporal scales. However, the primary purpose of this massive experimental and data collection programme is to determine how *biological and physiological* function arises within living organisms, so that increasingly interest is turning towards 'integrative' or 'systems' approaches to the problem of function determination (Kitano, 2002).

A full understanding of biological function emerges only if we are able to integrate all relevant information at multiple levels of organisation to recreate dynamic interactions. For example, Noble (2002) explains how the success of drug therapy depends not only on the structure and direct function of the targeted protein but also on how it interacts with its surroundings: without this information we may not know which transporters, enzymes or receptors are active in the diseased state and, further, we will be unable to predict (potentially fatal) side effects of the therapy that are due to these interactions. In general, these dynamic interactions cannot be recreated purely by experimental observation, and the only feasible approach is to develop mathematical and computational models which couple together the underlying complex interacting non-linear processes. An iterative interplay between experiment and modelling then provides descriptions of biological processes with the dynamic complexity to give the required biological function (Werner, 2005), and it is clear that such models will have to take into account the multiple spatial and temporal scales across which these processes take place. Hunter and Borg (2003) demonstrate that the spatial scales that may need to be considered in a complete model of the human body range from 1 nm (protein) to 1 m (whole body)—10 orders of magnitude and the temporal scales from 1  $\mu$ s (ion channel gating) to 10<sup>9</sup> s (human lifetime)—16 orders of magnitude. Such a wide range of scales requires a coupled hierarchy of models, each describing behaviour at a different scale, to encapsulate the complete system. In general, these resulting mathematical models are sufficiently complex that they can only be solved numerically, resulting in the increasing importance of computational simulation methods.

In this paper, we review some of the existing approaches to the computational multi-scale modelling of physiological and biological systems (see also the reviews by Schnell et al. (2007); Bassingthwaighte et al., 2005). We begin by giving what we hope is a helpful classification of multi-scale modelling in biology based on levels of biological organisation rather than absolute length or time scales. We then go on to discuss what we see as the key modelling, numerical, and computational issues that arise in such multi-scale approaches, before reviewing two of the areas in which these techniques have reached a high level of maturity: molecular dynamics (MD) and whole heart modelling. We conclude by discussing the progress made in these two fields towards addressing the difficulties inherent in the numerical solution of a multi-scale computational model and outline the type of problems we expect to see in the future as we try to model increasingly complex problems.

## 2. Levels of organisation

Before we define 'multi-scale' in the context of biological models and modelling, it is first necessary to clarify exactly what is meant by a *scale* in a biological or physiological sense. Spatially, a natural way to do this is to split processes up according to their position within the biological hierarchy, i.e. whether they represent interactions between organs, within a tissue, between cells, and so on. We refer to these hierarchical positions as *levels of biological organisation*. On the whole they are relatively well-defined (e.g. we can intuitively say whether a given process involves discrete cells or a tissue or whether it occurs within an organ or across a larger organ system). However, it is not easy to give concrete values for the lengths at which we switch from one level to the next—for example, different types of cell can have very different sizes and some organs may be larger than small organ systems (especially if the comparison is done between different organisms).

Major levels of biological organisation are shown in Fig. 1, and range from the environment (largest length scale) to the quantum level.

In the following sections we define each of these levels in terms of the biological processes that they contain, discuss the types of models that are generally used to encapsulate the biology, and consider the computational tractability of these models. Where appropriate, we will also give references to major reviews (or textbooks) which contain more details of the modelling work that is being conducted at that level. For the organ level and below, more concrete examples of models at each level are discussed in Sections 4 and 5.

## 2.1. Quantum

The most detailed analysis of a biological system would start at the *quantum* level, with each electron-electron interaction in the system being considered separately. The most accurate representation of the interactions of electrons is obtained by solving the Schrödinger equation (known as an *ab initio* calculation). However, the complex nature of the interactions means that it is currently not feasible to solve the time-dependant Schrödinger equation (for any system containing more than one atom), and the time-independent equation can only be solved for systems with fewer than 15 electrons (Miller and Clary, 2004; Thøgersen and Olsen, 2004). For this reason, quantum mechanical (QM) simulations usually exploit some simplified model of the interactions between electrons (for a discussion, see Jensen, 2006). Using commercially available QM packages, the structure of relatively large molecules can be investigated. For example, using



Fig. 1. Levels of biological organisation.

Q-Chem the structure of a hexadecapeptide (80 heavy atoms) can be calculated in between 10 and 100 h (depending on the model chosen) on a single 2 MHz Opteron processor (Shao et al., 2006).

## 2.2. Molecular

Next, at the *molecular* level, the system is defined in terms of the (classical) interactions between atoms (and ions). The system is governed by Newton's laws and the differences between the models are in the method used to calculate the forces, which are due to the deformation of chemical bonds, hydrogen bonding, and electrostatic, dipole–dipole and van der Waals interactions. Many different force fields have been suggested: most represent a trade-off between accuracy (exact expressions are known for many of the forces) and numerical tractability (see, for example, Schlick (2002) for an overview of commonly used force fields). In contrast to the quantum level, simulations of relatively large *dynamic* systems are possible at the molecular level: the modelling of these systems is known as MD whereas structural determination using inter-atomic force fields is referred to as molecular mechanics (MM). Commercial MM packages can be used to estimate

the structure of very large molecules. (Although the problems are computationally tractable, the accuracy of the predictions is dependent on the accuracy of the force field used.) In MD simulations, computational tractability is an issue even for relatively small systems: simulations of pure lipids can deal with length scales of the order of 10–30 nm and time scales of 'hundreds of nanoseconds' (Tieleman, 2006). However, for the simulation of a more complex system—a patch of lipid bilayer containing a single ion channel and surrounded by water and ions (with tens of thousands of particles)—Tieleman (2006) records that the simulation of just 1 ns of activity requires between 1 and 2 days.

#### 2.3. Macro-molecular

If the system in which we are interested contains a large number of atoms and is required to be simulated for a significant length of time, then the solution of the atomic level model will not be numerically tractable (see above). However, it is possible to reduce the number of degrees of freedom in the system by treating groups of particles as single entities, allowing simulations to be run for longer, but with a reduction in the accuracy of the results. As at the molecular level, Newton's laws govern the behaviour of the system and the modelling process amounts to the determination of an appropriate force field to describe the interaction between particles. Tieleman et al. (2001) describe how 'coarse-graining' can be used in the simulation of a large number of ions passing through a channel in order to calculate a macroscopic current. (The tens of nanoseconds that could be achieved with a MD simulation would not be sufficient to determine such a current.) We describe this level, where functional units consisting of several molecules are our base unit, as the *macro-molecular* level. This is the last level at which stochastic methods are routinely used: at higher levels of functionality the interactions between particles are averaged and deterministic models result.

## 2.4. Sub-cellular

When the number of particles present in a system becomes sufficiently large, it becomes possible to treat the system as a single *continuum*. This in turn allows the flux of various substances to be modelled by processes such as diffusion or convection, which can be modelled using partial differential equations (PDEs) and spatially varying density functions rather than having to keep track of individual particles (or groups of particles). The natural upper bound to this single continuum level is the whole cell, where the cell membrane and the structural alignment between cells break up the continuum. Hence, we will refer to this as the *sub-cellular* level, in line with our convention of naming different length scales after their biological functionality. Note that in the physical sciences it is often referred to as the *mesoscopic* scale (since it lies between the microscopic and macroscopic scales). A wide variety of sub-cellular processes have been modelled. These are too numerous to give an exhaustive list, but include processes such as actin–myosin dynamics (Negroni and Lascano, 1996; Campbell et al., 2001). However, the location of the sub-cellular level on the interface between stochastic and deterministic events makes it difficult to include in a multi-scale model since it can be difficult to couple models across this interface. (Nevertheless, the sub-cellular level can be considered the 'top' level in multi-scale models of ion channels, since the current through the channel is a sub-cellular process.)

## 2.5. Cellular

The basic structural and functional unit of an organism is the cell—sometimes referred to as 'the building block of life' (Alberts et al., 2002). The typical size of a cell ( $\sim 10^{-5}$  m, although there is a great deal of variety between different types of cell) also puts them at the interface between the mostly biochemical processes discussed above and the resulting macroscopic physiological properties. This property makes the *cellular* level a natural starting point for many integrative physiological models: cells are small enough to encapsulate many microscopic processes, yet large enough that they influence macroscopic behaviour. Cells are also self-contained and isolated from their surroundings by a selectively permeable membrane (and in the case of prokaryotic cells also by a rigid cell wall). So, many of the interactions of a cell with other cells and the extracellular space can be summarised by recording the flux of various substances (ions, nutrients) across the cell membrane—suggesting that the formulation of conservation laws in the form of ordinary differential

equations (ODEs) to describe them provides a natural way of modelling their behaviour. Many cell models have been proposed over the years. Many of these (over 350, from a variety of fields at the time of writing) are accessible online via the CellML repository (http://www.cellml.org, and see Lloyd et al., 2004). Noble and Rudy (2001) and Rudy and Silva (2006) have described the development of cardiac cell models, which are by far the most advanced cell models. Using current desktop computer technology, even the most advanced cell models can be simulated faster than real time using purpose built software packages such as COR (Garny et al., 2003).

## 2.6. Tissue

At the *tissue* level a large group of connected cells of the same type perform a specific function. In addition to the cells, a region of tissue will typically also contain an extra-cellular matrix (ECM) that holds the cells together and gives them some structural stability. Since the cell models discussed in the previous section do not include the ECM, mechanical models are usually formulated at the tissue level. Properties that result from the interactions between cells (such as the propagation of a cardiac action potential or the development of a cancerous tumour) must also be modelled at this level. Since these processes depend on position within the tissue, the models usually consist of PDEs (or sometimes cellular automata) rather than the ODEs generally seen at the cellular level. Keener and Sneyd (1998) give an overview of a wide variety of tissue level models to describe many different physiological processes. A survey of mechanical models of various types of tissue can be found in Fung (1993), while Humphrey (2003) provides a more recent review of the mechanics of soft tissue. An overview of cancer modelling is given in Preziosi (2003). The amount of time required to run simulations of tissue level models can vary greatly. Generally, they can be solved relatively quickly if there is no interaction with models at the cell level-for example, the solution of a model containing a small number of coupled (and possibly nonlinear) PDEs on a finite element (FE) mesh containing many thousands of nodes (or on a finite difference (FD) grid with a similar number of degrees of freedom) may take minutes to hours on a single processor. If, however, cellular models are to be embedded in the tissue model then the time taken to simulate the model can increase dramatically-particularly if the cellular models show behaviour on multiple time scales necessitating small time steps.

#### 2.7. Organ

An *organ* is a discrete unit performing a function or group of functions (e.g. the heart, brain, lungs). Usually the organ consists of a single main tissue type (e.g. myocardium in the heart) and several sporadic types (nervous, connective, blood). At the organ level, modelling usually consists of integrating tissue level models with one another and with a representation of the geometry of the organ that is being modelled. For example, a FE mesh might be constructed based on the shape of a real heart and encoding information about the fibre orientation at each mesh point (Vetter and McCulloch, 1998). Various organ level heart models have been proposed and are discussed in more detail in Section 5 (see also the review by Kerckhoffs et al. (2006)). However, it will be seen that these models are generally not of the whole heart but of single ventricles, atria or other subunits of the heart. Models of other organs are generally less mature than those of the heart, with most existing work concentrating on developing individual tissue level models rather than attempting to link them together. Recall that tissue level models can be computationally demanding. Since organ level models generally have tissue models embedded within them they require even longer to simulate. In fact, as will be seen in Section 5, accurate ventricular models often require several days to simulate even a few hundred milliseconds on very powerful computers.

#### 2.8. Organ system

A group of organs that work together to provide a common function is referred to as an *organ system*. Examples include the nervous system, circulatory system, respiratory system and immune system. It follows that two or more of the organ models described in the previous section could be coupled to provide a model of an organ system. An initial candidate, building on current work on organ level models of the heart, could be

the cardiovascular system. Modelling at the organ level is not yet mature enough for significant work to begin at the organ system level. However, Hunter et al. (2002) describe how ontological information such as publications, images, movies, models and anatomical notes have been collated from disparate databases to form a central resource. They also show how the bones, muscles and tendons around the knee can be built into an integrated model of the leg with mechanical stresses from the highest spatial level feeding back to the cell level where the balance of osteoblasts and osteoclasts in the bone is maintained. In a review by Crampin et al. (2004) there is a detailed description of how the cardiac and lung models are built from the cell level upwards. The geometric modelling of branching airways and alveoli bears substantial similarity with that of the pulmonary network of capillaries in the lungs. This is in turn similar to the blood supply in the heart. One can see that some of the problems tackled in modelling individual organs are duplicated in other organs. However, the task of combining organs into a single organ system is not as simple as running several models in tandem since there are feedback mechanisms (such as blood pressure and oxygenation) which cross between the systems. The development of sophisticated models of organ systems will require new models to be developed to describe these interfaces between the various organs that make up the system.

## 2.9. Organism

An *organism* is an individual life form. Although very small organisms consisting of a small number of cells (possibly one) exist, in the context of this review the organism level of biological organisation implies that the life form is made up of a network of interacting organ systems and organs (very small biological organisms can be modelled at the cellular or tissue level). According to the UK computer science community, the computational modelling of a simple biological organism such as the nematode worm is seen as a major computational challenge for part of this century (Harel, 2004, 2005). With that in mind, modelling an organism such as a human must be viewed as ambitious—and consequently there is little existing work to discuss here. However, it would be a natural progression from the development of whole organ and organ system models to the construction of a 'virtual physiological and pathological conditions. Hunter and Borg (2003) show that much of the work in constructing such a VPH relies on working from the bottom level upwards (from the gene via proteins and cells to the total organism). There are notable places in the modelling framework where information flows back down through the biological levels, such as signal pathways which couple events at the tissue level back to gene expression at a sub-cellular level.

## 2.10. Environment

Finally, each organism must be considered as a part of its environment. This includes both other organisms (of the same and different species) and other external factors such as air quality or drug delivery. Each of these components of the environment may impact on the organism level model and, hence, may also need to be modelled. Further, the organism may play an active part in shaping its environment, leading to a two-way feedback mechanism. Most of the work in modelling biological systems within an environment has concentrated either on population growth between species which are competing for resources or on epidemiology-the spread of disease through a population of individuals. Interactions between individuals are modelled at a coarse scale using empirical data to provide the probability of certain events occurring. A typical compartmental epidemic model for the spread of a virus is the 'SIR' model, in which the interactions of three distinct populations of individuals (unexposed and therefore susceptible to the virus, infectious, or recovered from the virus) are modelled. A stochastic compartmental model was successfully used by Riley et al. (2003) to fit known clinical data from a recent outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). The model is then used to predict the future spread of the disease under certain constraints such as travel restrictions. This type of analysis is common in epidemiology, and gives a good indication of the use of treatments and quarantine. However, its limitation is that the epidemic spread parameters are normally measured empirically. There is no coupling between the biological level of the virus and that of population mixing.

#### 2.11. Other levels of organisation

The discussion of levels of biological organisation given here is not intended to be exhaustive. While the 10 levels described above provide a natural range of length scales in many applications, there may be times when alternatives are appropriate. For example, *genetic* information does not fit comfortably into any of the levels: the complexity of the data DNA encodes for cannot be encapsulated by atomic or macro-molecular level simulations of its structure or dynamics. So, in an integrative model of tumourigenesis (the formation of a cancer, thought to be due to a genetic mutation) a more appropriate initial choice of levels might be: genetic, proteomic (gene expression), sub-cellular and cellular, although to model the growth and spread of a tumour accurately a number of tissue and organ level effects would also need to be included. Similarly, in some applications it may be more natural to merge two of the levels discussed here or to split one or more of them into distinct sub-levels. As with all areas of mathematical modelling, the way in which the model is formulated should take into account the nature of the system being modelled rather than simply following a rigid framework set out in advance.

## 3. Multi-scale modelling in biology

## 3.1. Formulation

A *model* is an abstract representation of a complex system in mathematical form, i.e. in terms of systems of equations and a description of the geometry on which they are valid. Usually the formulation of a model to describe a system requires some simplifying assumptions, so the solution of the equations is an approximation to the behaviour of the original system. The simplified model can be used to give insights into the factors that influence the behaviour of the more complex real system (e.g. the identification of key parameters, or prediction of future behaviour). The accuracy of the model is, in general, dependent on the validity of the assumptions and the development of a good model is usually an iterative process, with successive generations of the model providing better approximations to the real system.

Since chemical reactions can affect the behaviour of a whole organism (even to the point of causing it to die) any reasonably complex biological or physiological model will include processes that vary on a wide range of time and length scales: such models are commonly termed multi-scale models. In the context of biology and physiology, we have defined various length scales in terms of levels of biological organisation. Here we suggest a definition of multi-scale as being a model which includes components from two or more of these levels of organisation (multiple length scales) or if it includes some processes that occur much faster in time than others (multiple time scales). Examples of multi-scale physiological models are the bidomain and monodomain models of cardiac electrophysiology (see, for example, Keener and Sneyd, 1998). These models describe tissue (or organ) level propagation of an electrical wave front. However, the wave front is caused by the existence of cell membranes containing conducting ion channels-a cellular level process. The chemical reactions that regulate the ion channels occur on multiple time scales. A further example of a multi-scale physiological model may be taken from respiratory physiology. The transport of gas into the lungs from the atmosphere is modelled at the level of the organ (Tawhai et al., 2000; Scherer et al., 1988; Whiteley et al., 2002) as is the transport of blood through the lungs (Burrowes et al., 2004). These two processes are coupled by the transport of gas across the alveolar membrane, another organ level process. However, this diffusion is driven by reactions that take place within individual red blood cells and occur on a wide range of time scales and length scales (Whiteley, 2006b).

As well as interactions on multiple scales, an integrative model in biology or physiology may also require consideration of several different physical processes: such models are known as *multi-physics models*. Again, examples can be taken from modelling of the heart. The force that makes cardiac tissue contract during a heart beat is generated by the electrical activity of the heart. In turn, the mechanical contraction affects the electrical activity of the heart are clearly closely coupled. A general model of the heart should include the three physical processes of electrical generation and propagation, soft tissue deformation, and fluid flow. A second example of a multiphysics problem is avascular tumour growth. There is extensive literature devoted to modelling tumour

growth (see Fasano et al. (2006) for a recent review). The growth of a tumour displaces surrounding tissue. This displacement is usually modelled by nonlinear elasticity. This deformation results in the surrounding tissue exerting a force on the tumour, which affects the growth of the tumour (Chen et al., 2001). Similar interactions between different physical processes can be seen in many other applications in the life sciences.

The models that are used to describe multi-scale and multi-physics phenomena in the life sciences are generally too complex to allow exact solutions to be written down. So, numerical methods must be used to generate approximate solutions to the model equations. The choice of an appropriate numerical method is an important part of the modelling process since this can impact on both the accuracy of the solution and the amount of time required for the simulation. The final step in the modelling process is the development of software packages that apply appropriate numerical techniques to the system of model equations used to describe a biological system. These software packages are referred to as *simulators*.

## 3.2. Linking between scales

At some of the levels of organisation discussed above the system must be modelled stochastically, while at others it is possible to use deterministic models. In formulating a multi-scale model across this divide it is necessary to consider how to link these two very different types of model. This kind of modelling work is still at a very early stage. Burrage et al. (2004) have reviewed some of the possible methods for incorporating stochastic processes in a deterministic framework (in particular the formulation of stochastic differential equations) in the context of chemical reactions that occur on multiple time scales. However, to our knowledge, this has not been applied to any large-scale problem in the life sciences. For this reason we will mostly consider the computational modelling of stochastic processes and that of deterministic processes separately. In this section, we will outline some other difficulties in formulating and solving a multi-scale (or multi-physics) computational model for which more progress towards solutions has been made. For the moment we restrict ourselves to broad principles. More concrete examples (and extensive references) can be found in the case studies that follow in Sections 4 and 5.

In stochastic processes the computational issues are more likely to be due to the sheer number of particles that are interacting with one another than to the interaction between the scales. In general, the time scales on which the lower-level processes occur are much faster than those on which the higher-level processes occur. Usually this means that the lower-level processes can be assumed to occur instantaneously and can be included in a representation of the force field at the higher level. Storing the positions of each of the particles can cause problems in memory allocation and calculating the force resulting from each interaction can also lead to a very large number of calculations needing to be performed. In general, these factors mean that large stochastic models are usually computationally intensive. The switch to a model at a higher level of organisation is usually determined by the need to ensure that the calculations can be performed in a reasonable period of time (perhaps days rather than weeks or months in this context). Work on coupling stochastic models from different levels together (e.g. QM/MM coupling) is beginning to be done and examples of this are considered in Section 4.

When coupling together deterministic models of processes that occur on different scales or as part of different physical systems it is tempting simply to couple existing codes for the separate models to one another. However, this does not take into account how inaccuracies in the values of the variables that are passed between the two models may affect the combined model—one variable may be accurate enough in one model but when these models are coupled may first introduce errors into the solution of the other model, and in turn the solution of the combined model. In order to prevent these inaccuracies from occurring we should consider the whole as a single model rather than the combination of two simpler ones.

When models are coupled together in this way, obviously the number of variables becomes very large. In addition, the range of length scales and time scales will also increase. The system of governing equations is now a large system modelling multi-scale processes. Equations representing multi-scale processes are stiff. As a rule of thumb it is usually much more efficient to use implicit numerical methods to solve stiff problems. There are several drawbacks with implementing implicit methods for the large non-linear systems that typically arise from physiological systems: we need to be able to write down the Jacobian matrix, which is usually non-trivial; sufficient memory is required to store the matrix; and it can be very expensive to compute its entries. However,

explicit methods are vulnerable to numerical instability. So neither is ideal—the alternative is to use semiimplicit methods where the large problem is broken down into a system of smaller sub-problems and in each sub-problem some variables are solved implicitly and some explicitly. Choosing the decomposition in a suitable manner allows the benefits of both implicit and explicit methods. Often a natural choice for uncoupling a multi-physics model is given by consideration of the different physical processes included in the model.

Alternatively, in some cases, rather than combining the two models explicitly as described above, it may be possible to use the results of one model as input to the second. For example, if a reaction occurs on a very fast time scale then we may be able to assume that the chemicals in that reaction are in equilibrium. This eliminates one of the differential equations from the system, making its solution more straightforward and less computationally intensive. Sometimes it may also be possible to formulate boundary or initial conditions for a model on a larger spatial or time scale in terms of the results of another model at a smaller scale. In Section 5 some examples of the application of these deterministic multi-scale modelling techniques in the field of heart modelling will be seen.

In many areas of biology and physiology multi-scale and multi-physics models are still in their infancy. However, there are some areas in which it is much more mature. In the two sections that follow we review the progress that has been made in simulating the behaviour of ion channels using MD and in whole heart modelling. In doing this we show how these fields have addressed the issues we described above. Between them, MD and heart modelling span most of the different scales discussed in Section 2—from quantum to organ level. They are also implicitly linked to one another, as it will be seen that the cellular level models used in heart modelling encapsulate the bulk behaviour of ion channels. The interface between the two fields is (approximately) at the level at which the interface between deterministic (heart) and stochastic (MD) is found. That each is considered separately emphasises the difficulty in modelling across this divide. The two fields also provide a contrast in the way multi-scale modelling has progressed. Many of the (relatively recent) heart models have been developed with an integrated organ model in mind. In ion channel modelling, on the other hand, the models have generally been developed separately and only now are links between the different levels being introduced.

## 4. MD of ion channels

## 4.1. How ion channels function

The key to the electrophysiological behaviour of the cell is the ion channel. Ion channels are the functional result of genes encoding transmembrane proteins which form nanoscale pores through the cell membrane. They are crucial to electrical signalling in nerves, muscles and synapses. The effects of drugs and hormones on cellular function are greatly influenced by ion channels, making them prime candidates for research. Ion channels exhibit a high level of permeability, but this is combined with extreme selectivity and a fine level of control over ionic flux (Roux, 2005). The latter two properties make ion channels intriguing, and raise them above the level of a simple bionanotube.

Ion channels conduct at rates of up to 10 million ions per second, but are capable of differentiating between ions of similar sizes. Potassium channels conduct potassium ions at rates of up to 1000 times that of the slightly smaller sodium ion. This degree of selectivity is conferred by a sequence of five highly conserved residues precisely placed in the neck of the channel. The TXGYG motif is common to all potassium channels and in the tetrameric arrangement of most potassium channels forms the selectivity filter. The filter comprises a set of oxygen rings along the passage, of precisely the correct dimension for binding dehydrated  $K^+$  ions.  $K^+$  ions in solution have a hydration shell, and when they pass into the selectivity filter they dehydrate and bind to the carbonyl oxygen atoms in the filter. The binding directly balances the energetic cost of the dehydration. The precise positioning of the carbonyl groups means that the energetic gain from binding a  $K^+$  ion balances the dehydration cost, but is not enough to balance the cost of dehydrating a Na<sup>+</sup> ion (Hille, 2001).

Channels are not necessarily passive tunnels from one side of the membrane to the other, but can often react rapidly to external stimuli to close and open the conduction pathway. Voltage sensitive channels are equipped

with a voltage sensor in the form of a collection of charged particles whose motion is controlled by the potential field across the membrane. This motion may cause conformational changes in the protein that affect conductance. Ligand sensitive channels have receptor sites that bind chemical messengers or transmitters. The binding of the messenger to the receptor alters the channel's state from either open or closed. Ligand sensitive channels are sometimes referred to as ionotropic receptors. They are usually specific to the ionic species they are permeable to, and binding of the transmitter usually opens the channel. In a few cases, the binding decreases channel conductance by causing a closing of the channel. The binding causes a conformational change in the protein which brings about the change in conductance. When the bound ligand dissociates, the channel reverts to its resting state. Channels can also be gated by stretching (mechanosensitive channels) and by a ligand sensitive mechanism where the receptor is not directly coupled to the channel (second messenger gating).

The fine-grained control which ion channels are capable of exerting, and the precision required to perform it, leads directly to their Achilles' heel. Mutations in the genes coding for ion channels can cause very minor changes at the atomic level—a few atoms more, or a few atoms less, depending on which residue has been altered. These changes, however, can have devastating effects at the level of the whole body. Mutations in a calcium channel can cause epilepsy; cystic fibrosis arises from mutations in a chloride channel; and fatal cardiac arrhythmias are brought about through mutations in potassium channels. Clearly, these biomolecules exert an influence far beyond their immediate scale of operation—thus there is a very real requirement for multi-scale approaches.

## 4.2. Scales of ion channel modelling

Ion channel modelling has been performed at a variety of different scales using a variety of mathematical and computational techniques (Levitt, 1999; Kuyucak et al., 2001). Here we will concentrate on methods where the notion of individual particles is retained. In some cases, only the ions remain as discrete entities; in others, atoms are combined to form new types of particle (i.e. the macro-molecular level as described in Section 2.3). But we are still looking below the scale at which molecules are identical featureless entities.

For ion channels, the processes we are most interested in are permeation and gating, as described above. Unfortunately, both of these events occur on microsecond time scales, which renders them out of the reach of completely atomistic simulations at present. This does not prevent these methods from giving us some insight into what is happening, and there are other methods which do allow us to study these events. Some of these methods are described below.

#### 4.3. The quantum level

QM simulation methods are capable of giving a very accurate treatment of the system under study. The methods can be primarily *ab initio*, in which case they are extremely computationally intensive, reducing their applicability to a few atoms, or they may be semi-empirical, in which case they can be used for larger systems at the expense of accuracy. Either type of method is impractical to use for entire proteins, but desirable in cases where we wish to study bond breakage and formation, or the stabilisation of transition states, for example.

To circumvent the problems present in the QM approach, in biomolecular simulation QM is typically combined with an empirical MM method, resulting in a hybrid system where the region of interest is represented quantum mechanically, but the surrounding protein/lipid/solvent is represented atomistically with an empirically derived potential function (QM/MM).

Rega et al. (2004) applied the QM/MM technique to study proton hopping in the gramicidin A ion channel. The transport of ions along the gramicidin channel is regulated by a network of highly correlated hydrogen bonds. Quantum mechanics is thus an ideal method to analyse the mechanism of proton translocation. However, to represent the complete gramicidin system at that level would be prohibitively expensive, so a molecular mechanical description is used.

#### 4.4. The molecular level

Conventional wisdom in biochemistry is that protein structure leads directly to function. So if we could obtain accurate structures surely we would immediately be able to understand their functions? Unfortunately life is not quite so simple. X-ray crystallography is capable of resolving protein structures to within 2 Å or better, but even this astonishing level of detail goes only a small part of the way to explaining protein function, as it is only a snapshot of the protein in one particular configuration of the millions that it may adopt. MD is a technique which addresses this concern, and provides insight into the dynamics of biomolecules (Gumbart et al., 2005).

In MD simulations, the starting point is a set of atomic positions in three-dimensional space. The time evolution of these atoms is then simulated by repeatedly integrating their equations of motion according to Newton's second law. The laws of classical mechanics, as applied here, require an empirical potential energy function in order to be able to compute the forces acting on the atoms. Potential energy functions in MD typically include bond length potentials, bond angle potentials, torsional potentials and electrostatic potentials. In these simulations, the time step must be kept short enough so that the forces can be assumed to be constant and to ensure stability of the solutions to the differential equations. These restrictions usually result in time steps of around 2 fs, which confine total simulation times to the order of tens of nanoseconds.

A typical MD ion channel simulation set-up consists of a protein structure embedded in a slab of lipid bilayer, surrounded on both sides by solvent, with ions and waters present in the channel in accordance with experiment (see Fig. 2). Confining the ion channel structure to the pore region leads to a total simulation size of approximately 50,000 atoms. MD simulations have examined both the permeation pathway of channels (e.g. Bernèche and Roux, 2000; Shrivastava and Sansom, 2000) and the gating mechanism (e.g. Beckstein et al., 2003). However, direct computation of ionic flux or gating motions is not yet feasible and there is a lack of fully resolved channel structures containing voltage sensors. We now look at an approach for gaining access to a longer time scale, concentrating on the permeation pathway. In the subsequent section, we will examine a method at the macro-molecular scale used to study the gating mechanism.



Fig. 2. Cutaway diagram of a typical MD potassium channel set-up. Two subunits of the tetramer have been removed for clarity. Shown are the lipid bilayer in a box of water, two subunits of the pore region of the protein, two ions in the filter separated by a water molecule, some water in the cavity and the waters positioned just outside the filter region.

#### 4.4.1. Brownian dynamics

To access longer time scales than is possible in MD, two major approximations are made in Brownian dynamics simulations. The first makes use of the fact the ions pass through the channel on a time scale that is significantly shorter than major protein motions, and thus the protein may be described as a fixed collection of charges acting upon the ions. The other main approximation is to treat the solvent as implicit, thus avoiding the explicit calculation of the motion of several thousand water atoms. One could go a step further and use a continuum model for the ions themselves. However, the Poisson–Nernst–Planck (PNP) and Poisson–Boltzmann (PB) continuum theories have been shown to be unreliable as the size of the system under study approaches the Debye length (Corry et al., 2000; Moy et al., 2000).

The random movements of an ion in an electrolyte solution can be described as Brownian motion. The time evolution of a particle undergoing Brownian motion can be described by the Langevin equation which contains both a dissipative force and a random force acting on the particle. Both these forces occur from the same origin—namely the random collisions between ions and water molecules in thermal agitation. However, when the ions are proximate to the ion channel they come under the influence of an electric force arising from four sources. The transmembrane potential creates an electric field which will influence nearby ions. Added to this field is the contribution from charged particles contained in the channel protein. All the ions in the electrolyte will also contribute to the field. The fourth charge is induced when the ion nears the protein wall and is a surface charge of the same polarity at the interface between the protein and water. The contribution from all these sources must be accounted for when performing Brownian dynamics simulations (Chung and Kuyucak, 2002).

Chung et al. (1999) applied Brownian dynamics to the potassium channel in their permeation study. They used an idealised representation of the channel, based on the structure obtained by Doyle et al. (1998). Their simulations produced current–concentration curves showing qualitative agreement with experiment, demonstrated the expected saturation property, and exhibited reversal potentials that agreed with those calculated by the Nernst equation.

## 4.5. The macro-molecular level

#### 4.5.1. Elastic network models

Elastic network models fall loosely into the category of coarse-grained methods. They sit among a group of methods designed to access long time scale protein motions (Elber, 2005; Tozzini, 2005). Based on normal mode analysis, these methods are not suitable for direct prediction of permeation, but find their application in understanding gating and other long time scale channel motions.

Normal mode analysis (NMA) is a standard technique for studying the long-time dynamics of biomolecules. It is frequently used for identifying the slowest motions of the molecular system. The normal modes of a molecule are given by absorptions in its vibrational spectrum. Normal mode analysis studies motions of small amplitude in a single-well potential to which a harmonic approximation has been made. The analysis is therefore confined to a conformational sub-state. Major conformational changes of the protein involve the crossing of energy barriers to move to different conformational sub-states, and are outside the limits of the approximation being made in this type of analysis.

Up until recently, complex potential terms comprising geometric distortions, steric repulsions, and van der Waals and electrostatic interactions were used to perform NMA. Tirion (1996) proposed a replacement of these potential terms with a simpler pair-wise Hookean potential controlled by a single parameter. This simplified potential is still sufficient to describe the low-frequency motions of large globular proteins, while removing the necessity of a computationally expensive energy minimisation step.

The approach proposed by Tirion was developed by Bahar et al. (1997) into a model for proteins whereby the protein in its folded state is assumed to correspond to a three-dimensional elastic network. The junctions of the elastic network are described by the C-alpha atoms of the protein, and these undergo Gaussian-distributed fluctuations under the influence of nearby atoms. Using only the configuration provided by the crystal structure, the single parameter elastic network model is sufficient to model the C-alpha temperature factors of 12 proteins taken from the Protein Data Bank.

Shrivastava and Bahar (2006) applied the network model technique to a set of potassium channel structures. Their analysis showed that all five channels displayed a similar corkscrew motion in opening the cytoplasmic

73

end of the pore. This was despite sequential, structural and activational differences in the channels under study.

Elastic network models use an extremely simple representation of the forces acting on the network's junctions which are in turn simplified representations of the atomic structure of the protein. In the next section, we examine a method for coarse-graining atomic representations that derives its parameters from the underlying atomistic methods, and is one step closer to a multi-scale method.

## 4.5.2. Coarse-grained MD

Izvekov and Voth (2005) note that CG potentials can be expected to have less transferability than atomistic ones, because they are potentials of mean force, and may be sensitive to changes in temperature and other thermodynamic variables. It is therefore desirable to be able to re-derive CG potentials under the same thermodynamic conditions as they will be used, and thus efficiency of the derivation process becomes important. A multi-scale coarse-grain (MS-CG) force-matching method is proposed which can determine an effective pairwise force field from given trajectory and force data.

Conventional force-matching methods use a least-squares approach, which is only tractable for small numbers of parameters. In biomolecular systems the number of parameters becomes prohibitively large. Izvekov and Voth (2005) apply a spline interpolation to the short-ranged part of the force, and thus the force field to be fit depends linearly on the parameters and the least-squares problem can be rewritten as an overdetermined system of linear equations which can then be solved efficiently. They also found that force matching incorporated Coulombic effects despite omitting the Coulomb term while the force field was being fit. This was ascribed to the MS-CG force field capturing environmental screening effects.

The MS-CG system allowed simulations to be run approximately 50 times faster than the underlying MD, and this improvement is expected to increase for larger systems due to the lack of explicit long-range interactions. However, dynamic properties are still unavailable from MS-CG. Extra terms such as Langevin friction and random force terms need to be included to be able to extract dynamical information from a MS-CG simulation. The MS-CG method was applied to the gramicidin A ion channel in Shi et al. (2006). This application is particularly interesting because it utilised an atomistic model for the protein while using a coarse-grain representation of the lipid bilayer and solvent molecules which surround the protein. Similar to the mixed QM/MM calculations, this multi-scale approach results in atomic detail where you need it most, with significantly reduced computational cost. The mixed atomistic/coarse-grained model showed good agreement with the corresponding all-atom simulation (Shi et al., 2006).

## 4.6. Multi-scale ion channel modelling

Although models involving ion channels cover a wide range of spatial and temporal scales, there have been few published efforts aimed at combining multiple models of different scales into a coherent whole. One such effort was that of Mashl et al. (2001). They describe a hierarchical approach to predicting the permeation of the potassium channel KcsA. At the time of the study, no open structure of the KcsA channel was available, only the closed structure obtained by Doyle et al. (1998).

Mashl and colleagues created molecular models of the open channel with different sizes of the pore entrance by rotating the M1 and M2 helices to obtain an open structure in agreement with available experimental data. The titratable residues of the models had their ionisation states calculated for the pH values of the open and closed channel. This enabled potential profiles to be computed for single potassium ions passing through the channel. MD simulations of potassium ions in the pore were performed to obtain velocity autocorrelation functions, from which the fluid dynamic diffusion coefficient was derived. This coefficient was in good agreement with the bulk diffusion coefficient of potassium ions in water. Having obtained the ionic mobility, Brownian dynamics simulations were then performed in one dimension to determine the ionic fluxes. Onedimensional Brownian dynamics is an effective constraint on the ion to only move in the axial direction of the channel. From the ionic flux measurements, current–voltage curves and average channel conductance were both shown to agree reasonably well with experiment. The mean number of ions in the channel at various transmembrane potentials was compared with the computed Using flux-ratio exponent and they were found to be in good agreement. As methods become more reliable and efficient, computers faster, and programs more widely available, then approaches similar to the above are likely to become more common. Unfortunately, the disadvantage of multi-scaling in this way is that it requires the practitioner to be skilled in a wide range of techniques, increasing the demand in human terms. This problem can of course be offset through collaboration, both within academia and with industry.

#### 4.7. MD simulation packages

A relatively small group of software packages have been developed over the course of more than 20 years to run MD simulations. Many of the simulations described above have been performed using one of these established packages. The software is typically very general, being able to deal with a wide range of different problems rather than being specific to ion channel simulations. Commonly used MD software packages include GROMACS (Lindahl et al., 2001; van der Spoel et al., 2005), CHARMM (MacKerell et al., 1998), AMBER (Case et al., 2006) and NAMD (Phillips et al., 2005). Each of these packages consists of a complex force field to describe interactions between the particles in a system and numerical algorithms to solve Newton's second law based on the forces predicted by these fields. With the exception of NAMD (which began life in the mid-1990s as a parallel implementation of the AMBER force field) each of the packages was developed over 20 years ago in individual research groups (GROMACS at Groningen, CHARMM at Harvard, AMBER at UCSF). Since being released (each is freely available for academic use) they have been maintained and developed by large communities worldwide. New experimental results have led to updated force fields and advances in computing to improved algorithms (in particular for parallel implementation) and performance.

The use of established, general packages like these will be seen to contrast with the situation in heart modelling described in Section 5, where individual research groups write their own software to solve specific problems. For some of the more novel (and recent) techniques described above, such as coarse-graining, Brownian dynamics and the hierarchical approach, the situation is more like that in heart modelling: customised code is written for specific problems and is usually not freely available, even to other researchers.

## 4.8. View to the future

Taking a look further up the scale from contemporary ion channel simulation, we can see opportunities to push back the boundaries of utility of molecular simulation. As mentioned at the beginning of this section, single residue mutations in potassium channels can affect electrophysiological behaviour at the scale of the whole heart. Cardiac cellular models are capable of reproducing the phenotype of these mutations (Gima and Rudy, 2002) but they rely on experimental data for their parameterisation. Obtaining these experimental data is both difficult and time consuming. If it were possible to incorporate simulated data into these models, then the effects of previously unknown mutations would be able to be examined at the cost of mere computation time.

At present, the cardiac cellular models descend in scale only as far as the level of modelling ion channels as multi-state Markovian entities, characterised by conductance and transition rates (Clancy and Rudy, 2002). These Markov models are derived from experimental data rather than simulation. Looking at the problem from the opposite perspective, the simulation of ion channels has extended as far up as predicting the permeation properties for a single channel.

To complete the bridge from atomistic to cellular, one needs to provide a model for channel gating which can be derived purely from simulation. As the precise gating mechanism is unknown for most channels, and it as yet cannot be simulated directly, this presents a serious but eminently worthwhile challenge.

## 5. Heart modelling

A second multi-scale problem in the life sciences is the simulation of a beating heart. Within the heart, processes at the tissue, cellular, sub-cellular and even lower levels influence the organ level behaviour. Several coupled physical processes occur at each level and there are complex feedback mechanisms between the scales

in both directions. Further, almost all of the processes occur on multiple time scales. These properties make the development of an accurate whole heart simulator very difficult, both in terms of the formulation of appropriate models and the development of appropriate numerical algorithms and powerful computers to make the solution of the resulting systems of equations tractable. Since the early 1990s (Henriquez et al., 1990; Panfilov and Holden, 1993; Panfilov and Keener, 1993) various groups have developed software to simulate cardiac behaviour. Progress has been rapid and by 2003 integrative models of the ventricles, the atria or the sino-atrial node were being used as paradigms for the development of a 'physiome' model of the whole human body (Hunter and Borg, 2003). In this review we focus mostly on ventricular models and the term 'organ level model' will often be used to describe a representation of a whole ventricle (i.e. a level of organisation above the tissue level) rather than of the whole heart.

Most cardiac models include processes acting at three levels: cellular, tissue and organ. There are two-way feedback mechanisms between each of these scales so they cannot be easily uncoupled. Further processes at the sub-cellular level and below are implicitly embedded in the cell models that are used and it may be necessary to include information from the organ system and organism levels in the future. (For instance, the heart receives feedback from the circulatory and cardiovascular systems.) Multiple time scales are also present in the heart—this can most easily be seen by noting that the time it takes for the heart to contract during a beat is much less than the time between beats. In addition to this multi-scale behaviour, the integrated heart also exhibits multi-physics, with interactions occurring between models of electrophysiology, tissue mechanics, metabolism and circulation (coronary and systemic). Here we outline some of the methods used to develop the models used in the simulators discussed later. In general, electrophysiology is considered at both the cellular and tissue level and mechanics at the tissue level. These models are then embedded in an organ level representation of the geometry of the heart (or ventricle, atria or sino-atrial node). To date, models of metabolism and circulation have not been implemented in multi-physics cardiac simulators.

## 5.1. Cellular level

Current simulators use a variety of different models of the electrophysiology of cardiac cells. The majority of these models utilise the Hodgkin–Huxley formulation (Hodgkin and Huxley, 1952) to represent ion channel dynamics This models ion channel dynamics using 'gating variables' that are functions of potential. The gating variables represent the probability of any given ion channel (or part of a channel— many channels are controlled by more than one gating variable) being 'open'. When a channel is open, a transmembrane potential drives a capacitive current through it. The total transmembrane current is calculated by multiplying this nominal current by the proportion of channels that are open. Early models of cardiac cells included only two (FitzHugh, 1961; Nagumo et al., 1962) or three (Noble, 1960) variables. A second generation of cardiac cell models included ion concentrations (Beeler and Reuter, 1977), which were involved in regulating the values of the gating variables, and incorporated more ion channels as they were discovered experimentally (sometimes in response to predictions of the models, e.g. McAllister et al., 1975).

State-of-the-art cardiac cell models can include a large number of nonlinear ODEs. (For example, the model of Noble et al. (1998) contains 23 ODEs.) They include terms to describe the currents due to ion pumps and exchangers (DiFrancesco and Noble, 1985; Luo and Rudy, 1991). Intra-cellular mechanisms, in particular the regulation of the Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration by the sarcolemma, can also be included (Luo and Rudy, 1994a, b; Faber and Rudy, 2000; Winslow et al., 2000). The Kyoto model of Matsuoka et al. (2003) and the model of Sachse et al. (2003) include sarcomere dynamics and cardiomyocytes—allowing the cell to contract in response to changes in intra-cellular ionic concentrations. Stretch-activated ion channels have also been included in ionic models (Kohl et al., 1999; Healy and McCulloch, 2005), allowing for two-way feedback between the electrophysiological and mechanical models of the heart. Although there are a large number of (nonlinear) ODEs in the models, their individual solutions can be computed extremely quickly. However, problems may arise when a large number of cellular components are embedded in a tissue or organ level model—the cumulative expense of solving many thousands of complex cell models may be high. For this reason, many simulators still use the early models with few ionic currents. Further, Fenton and Karma (1998) have

attempted to work back from the more complex models to determine the model with minimal ionic complexity that accurately reproduces the cardiac action potential. The resulting model contains three channel currents (the same number as in some of the earliest cell models). The discussion of cell models in this section should not be considered to be at all exhaustive. There are many more models available than those mentioned here. In particular, only ventricular cell models have been discussed. A much wider selection of models (including a description of the physiology that they describe) can be found at the online CellML repository (www.cellml.org, and see Lloyd et al., 2004).

#### 5.2. Tissue level

At the tissue level there is one main electrophysiological model—the bidomain model (Plonsey, 1988; Sepulveda et al., 1989; Henriquez et al., 1990). This model predicts the transmembrane potential by modelling cardiac tissue as a homogenised two-phase medium. At each point in the solution space (which must be discretised for the model to make sense), there is an intracellular potential and an extracellular potential. In each space, current flow between the points is modelled by a cable equation. The difference between these two potentials drives a current across the cell membrane, which is modelled at each point as a capacitor connected in parallel with the ionic currents defined in the cellular level model. So, if the bidomain model is solved using FEs (or finite differences) there is a separate cellular model embedded at each node of the mesh (or grid). Simplifications to the bidomain model are sometimes used to reduce the computational requirements of the simulation. The monodomain model is obtained by assuming either that the extracellular potential is constant or that the conductivity tensors for the two domains are proportional. In both cases the equation for the model reduces to a single equation for the intracellular potential. The eikonal-diffusion model (Tomlinson et al., 2002) describes the propagation of a wave front within the cardiac tissue, but does not contain the more detailed description of the shape of the action potential seen in the bidomain and monodomain models. Further, it cannot be coupled to cellular level models (as it only defines the location of the wavefront and has no transmembrane current term), and so cannot be used to model the whole heart consequences of cellular problems (such as long QT syndrome).

All of the packages we discuss below for whole organ simulations use one of the above models of action potential propagation. However, other methods have been used for smaller-scale simulations. Early simulation methods (Moe et al., 1964; Restivo et al., 1990; Mitchell et al., 1992) used cellular automata models to allow their simulations to run more quickly. However, the requirement that each cell is in one of a number of discrete states at any given time is physiologically unrealistic. Other studies, such as that of Winslow et al. (1993), have coupled cell models together into small networks by modelling the electrical properties of gap junctions. However, these models require the consideration of every cell–cell interface, making the computational power required well beyond that currently available. There is now a consensus that the bidomain model represents the most accurate representation of the physiology that is numerically tractable.

Many different models have been suggested to describe the mechanics of cardiac tissue, with almost every simulator using a different one. However, there are many similarities between the various models. All use some type of nonlinear, finite elasticity model to describe the passive properties of the tissue. These can be broadly classified according to whether they use exponential (Lin and Yin, 1998; Usyk et al., 2002) or pole-zero law (Hunter et al., 1995) models for the strain energy function. If the simulator uses a geometrical model of the heart (see below) which includes myofibre orientation, then the tissue is usually assumed to be either transversely isotropic (with the direction in which it behaves differently aligned with the fibres) or orthotropic. Where the mechanics is included in a multi-physics model, the coupling is generally achieved by including an 'active tension' term which causes the tissue to contract in response to the electrical activation (Negroni and Lascano, 1996; Hunter et al., 1998; Lin and Yin, 1998; Campbell et al., 2001; Usyk et al., 2002). Generally, the contraction first occurs when the  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration reaches some critical value, acts in the direction of the myofibres (if included in the geometry) and then tails off over time. In some cases (Negroni and Lascano, 1996; Campbell et al., 2001) the active tension is calculated by explicitly modelling the average behaviour of a large number of sarcomeres (which exist at the sub-cellular or cellular level). A natural extension would be to remove the averaging and include active tension at the cellular level. This process has been begun by Matsuoka et al. (2003).

#### 5.3. Organ level

At the organ level, various representations of the geometry of real ventricles and atria and the orientation of the Purkinje fibres and myofibres within them have been developed for use in simulations. Similar representations of the whole heart are not available yet. Here we concentrate on ventricular models. Anatomically accurate FE meshes have been constructed from experimental measurements of the hearts of dogs (Nielsen et al., 1991; LeGrice et al., 1995), pigs (Stevens and Hunter, 2003) and rabbits (Vetter and McCulloch, 1998). These models include realistic fibre architecture, which is key in the study of mechanical contraction (Kerckhoffs et al., 2006), dynamics of life-threatening arrhythmias (Efimov et al., 1995; Qu et al., 2000; Clayton et al., 2006) and the termination of them (Rodriguez et al., 2005; Trayanova, 2006). Recent advances in imaging technology have allowed the generation of anatomically accurate representations of the human heart (including fibre orientations) to be constructed from MRI (Watanabe et al., 2004) and CT scans (Xia et al., 2005).

Also at the organ level, models of the coronary circulation have been developed. A technique for generating a realistic coronary arterial tree was developed by Kassab et al. (1993) and a model of the capillaries followed (Kassab and Fung, 1994). These models were proposed for the pig heart, but similar structures can be expected in the hearts of other animals. Smith et al. (2000, 2002) have proposed a two-scale model (large vessels and microvasculature) of the blood flow through the resulting circulatory system and embedded it within the canine heart mesh of LeGrice et al. (1995). However, these circulatory models have yet to be integrated into multi-physics models with the mechanics or electrophysiology of the beating heart.

## 5.4. Multi-scale and multi-physics simulators

The ultimate goal of heart modelling is to develop an integrated system of models from the cellular, tissue and organ scales, together with appropriate numerical algorithms and enough computing power to solve the resulting system of equations for use in a whole heart simulator. The most advanced cardiac simulators include models of both electrophysiology and mechanics (multi-physics) and from each of the cellular, tissue and organ levels (multi-scale).

A simulation package has been developed at the University of Auckland to 'strongly couple' the electrophysiology and mechanics of the heart (Nickerson et al., 2001, 2005). At the cellular level, either the Noble model (Noble et al., 1998) or the Fenton–Karma model (Fenton and Karma, 1998) is used to determine the membrane potential and a calcium transient generates an *active tension*. At the tissue level, the monodomain model is used to model action potential propagation and the HMT model (Hunter et al., 1998) to describe the tissue mechanics. The simulations were run by modelling the left ventricle as a transversely isotropic (in both mechanical and electrophysiological terms) hollow prolate spheroid. A realistic fibre orientation was used. The coupling between the two physical processes is seen in the generation of an active tension dependent on the electrophysiology in the HMT model and in the deformation of the domain on which the electrophysiological model is solved.

The method used for solving the coupled system involves decoupling the electrophysiological and mechanical models at each time step and advancing in time using the explicit Euler method (Smith et al., 2004) to update each in turn. This is an improvement over *weak* coupling methods (where one type of physics is simulated over a long time frame and then this solution is used as input for the second type of physics), but it is not truly a *tightly* coupled system (where both types of physics would be solved for simultaneously at each time step). A mixed FE (for the mechanics) and FD (for the electrophysiology) solution method is used. The FD grid is embedded in the FE mesh and has a finer resolution (Smith et al., 2004). Simulation of 1 s of cardiac activity requires 3 weeks of computation on eight processors of an IBM Regatta P690 supercomputer, with parallelisation implemented using OpenMP. CMISS, the simulation package developed by the Auckland group, is freely available for academic use.

In a similar study, Usyk and McCulloch (2003) have simulated the solution of a coupled electromechanical model of the heart on an oblate spheroid (Usyk et al., 2000) including fibre orientation and sheet architecture. At the cellular level they use the FitzHugh–Nagumo equations (three ion channels, FitzHugh, 1961; Nagumo et al., 1962) for the electrophysiology. As with the Auckland work, the mechanical properties are considered at

the tissue level and are coupled to a monodomain model of electrical propagation, in this case with an additional diffusion term in the fibre direction (Usyk et al., 2002). The mechanical properties of the cardiac tissue were modelled using the orthotropic model of Usyk et al. (2000), which is responsible for the coupling between the two physical processes. Again, there is no direct feedback from the mechanical model to the electrophysiological model, but the electrophysiological model is solved on a mesh deformed according to the mechanical model. The (systemic) circulatory system is included in the model via the inclusion of a ventricular pressure function coupled to a Windkessel model of arterial impedance.

The model is simulated using a FE mesh (finer for the electrophysiology than for the mechanics as was the case for the Auckland simulator) and an adaptive Runge–Kutta method for the time step (Usyk et al., 2002). The simulation of 1.2 s of cardiac activity requires 72 h of computational time on a single processor of a Silicon Graphics Origin 2000 (Usyk and McCulloch, 2003). This is very much faster than the comparable simulation performed by the Auckland group described above. (Recall that this took 3 weeks using 8 processors.) It is not clear exactly why there is such a difference in the simulation times, but one possible reason is that the mesh used in the UCSD work appears to be coarser (48 elements for the mechanical component) than that used in Auckland (128 elements for the mechanical component—both simulators use a finer mesh for the electrophysiology). Since the stability of the explicit Euler method depends on grid spacing this also suggests that a smaller time step is required for the Auckland simulation than the UCSD one, further increasing the computational demands. The trade-off for the additional time required to simulate the system is that the Auckland results may be more accurate due to their finer mesh and smaller time step. The UCSD cardiac simulation package, Continuity 6, is distributed free for academic use by the National Biomedical Computation Resource (NCBR).

Another advanced whole ventricle simulator has been developed by Watanabe et al. (2004) at the University of Tokyo. Modelling is similar to that used by the Auckland and UCSD groups, with the FitzHugh–Nagumo model (FitzHugh, 1961; Nagumo et al., 1962) being used at the cellular level and coupled to the monodomain model at the tissue level. The mechanics of the heart tissue are modelled using the Lin–Yin constitutive law (Lin and Yin, 1998) and, since this does not include an active tension term, coupled to the electrophysiology using the model of Negroni and Lascano (1996). Uniquely, the Tokyo model includes a *third* physical process: the flow of blood within the chambers of the heart. The blood is modelled as a Newtonian fluid and its motion is strongly coupled to the deformation of the cardiac tissue using an arbitrary Lagrangian–Eulerian (ALE) method (Zhang and Hisada, 2001).

Simulations are performed using FE methods on a mesh generated from MRI images of human hearts. The mesh used has approximately 20,000 degrees of freedom (comparable to that used at UCSD) and a predictor-multicorrector algorithm based on the Newark- $\beta$  scheme is used for the time integration. No information is included about the computational resources required to run the simulations, although the need to use 'higher performance computers and parallel resources' in future suggests that the simulations are computationally intensive even on the relatively coarse mesh used here.

A different approach to a multi-physics simulation of the beating heart is taken by Kerckhoffs et al. (2005), who have coupled a tissue level eikonal-diffusion model to a nonlinear elastic model of cardiac mechanics (Kerckhoffs et al., 2003). No cellular level model is required as the membrane potential is fully determined at the tissue level. The mechanical model used (also at the tissue level) is due to Kerckhoffs et al. (2003) and is coupled to the electrical propagation model by the presence of an active tension that depends on the passive tension and the time since depolarisation (i.e. active tension is larger immediately after the wave front passes through a region). In simulations that use this method, only the propagation wave front is seen—not the entire action potential. Further, the two physical processes are only weakly coupled: the propagation of the electrical wave is determined first by the solution of the eikonal-diffusion equation and then this is used as an input for the mechanical model. However, the trade-off for these simplifications is that the computational time is significantly reduced: one complete cardiac cycle can be computed in approximately 5 h on a Silicon Graphics 64-bit Origin 2000 at 225 MHz (Kerckhoffs et al., 2005). Simulation of both physical processes used tri-linear basis functions on a hexahedral FE mesh.

Another interesting multi-physics whole heart simulator has been developed by McQueen and Peskin (2000). This simulator is unusual in that it has been developed by researchers with a background in

computational fluid dynamics rather than in electrophysiology. Hence, the model does not have an electrophysiological component (usually the starting point for an integrative model of the heart), but instead couples the cardiac tissue mechanics to fluid flow within the chambers of the heart. The simulator uses more advanced numerical techniques than many of the alternatives in coupling these two physical processes (only the simulator of Watanabe et al. (2004) is comparable): they are updated simultaneously at each time step using an immersed boundary method (Lai and Peskin, 2000).

Recently Gurev et al. (2006) have coupled the bidomain model of electrophysiology to an exponential mechanical model of cardiac tissue in a two-dimensional sheet geometry in order to investigate the affect of ventricular dilation on defibrillation of the heart. At the cellular level the Luo–Rudy dynamic model (Luo and Rudy, 1994a, b) is coupled to the electroporation model of DeBruin and Krassowska (1998) and a modified version of the model of Zabel et al. (1996) for a stretch-activated channel. Interaction between the two physical processes is through stretch-activated ion channels that alter the transmembrane current. Simulations were performed with the tissue either stretched or unstretched. (Electrical activation does not introduce an active tension or any other mechanism to cause contraction of the cardiac tissue.) An explicit FE method was used, with quadrilateral elements, bilinear basis functions and a spatial resolution of 100 µm. To date, no organ level results for this model have been published, but the methods described could be generalised to anatomically accurate three-dimensional geometries.

#### 5.5. Single physics simulators

Although the final aim of heart modelling must be the development of multi-physics simulators that recreate the interactions between the different physical processes that occur in the heart, major advances have been made using single physics models of the heart—in particular models of its electrophysiology. Since the interactions between the physical processes are not a factor in these simulators, much more sophisticated models of the single physical process can often be used than in their multi-physics equivalents.

Clayton and Holden (2002, 2004) have developed the Sheffield Cardiac Arrhythmia Model (SCAM)—a package to simulate the generation of an electrocardiogram (ECG). As well as modelling the electrophysiology of cardiac tissue, SCAM also considers the propagation of the action potential through the whole torso and its detection by electrodes on the chest and back. The heart model is similar to that used by the Auckland group, with the Fenton–Karma equations being coupled to the monodomain model and the explicit Euler method being used to advance in time. Further, the Auckland canine heart model (Nielsen et al., 1991) is used to generate a FD grid at the organ level. Electrical propagation in the torso is also included (with the torso modelled as an isotropic Ohmic resistor) in order to simulate ECG generation. SCAM is noteworthy for its representation of behaviour at the organ system level (the inclusion of a whole torso model). Similar work has since been carried out by Pullan et al. (2003), who have embedded an electromechanical model of the heart within the torso in order to elucidate the contributions of contraction to the ECG. Typical results from a simulation using SCAM are shown in Fig. 3.

More sophisticated FD simulations of the monodomain model on the rabbit ventricular model of Vetter and McCulloch (1998) have been carried out by Fenton et al. (2005). Several different cellular models (Fenton and Karma, 1998; Nygren et al., 1998; Fox et al., 2002) have been considered in these simulations. A phasefield approach is used to overcome the difficulty of applying Neumann boundary conditions to a FD scheme with complex geometry by making the boundary spatially diffuse. The resulting simulator is very fast: 1 s of electrical activity takes approximately 1.5 h to simulate on a single 667 MHz Alpha processor and using a grid with 2.7 million degrees of freedom—although this speed is at least in part due to the very simple cellular level model that is used. Note also that an alternative method for applying Neumann boundary conditions in a FD implementation—the immersed interface method—has been proposed by Dumnet and Keener (2003). However, the simplest way to overcome these problems may be to use FE methods instead.

For comparison, Nakazawa and Suzuki (2002) at the National Cardiovascular Center in Japan have used the much more complex Luo–Rudy dynamic model (Luo and Rudy, 1994a) in a FE simulation of the monodomain equations. On a mesh with roughly twice the number of degrees of freedom (5.64 million) as that of Fenton et al. (2005), 6 h of computational time are required to simulate each second of cardiac activity on an NEC SX4/16 supercomputer. Some of this additional time will be due to the additional overhead required



Fig. 3. Effect of regional differences in action potential shape and duration on repolarisation and the electrocardiogram in the canine heart. Top panel left, action potentials for endocardial, mid-myocardial and epicardial cells during pacing at 1000 ms intervals. Top panel right, APD restitution for the three cell types obtained in a thin strip of simulated tissue using an S1 S2 protocol, with a basic (S1) cycle length of 500 ms. The cell model used is the four-variable reduced model described in Cherry and Fenton (2004) with parameter sets fitted to experimental recordings from canine endocardial, mid-myocardial and epicardial cells as described in Cherry et al. (2003). The parameter sets were obtained by personal communication from E.M. Cherry and F.H. Fenton. Lower panel shows colour-coded repolarisation times in long and short axis slices through the Auckland canine ventricle geometry (Nielsen et al., 1991), obtained using an explicit FD solution of the monodomain model with a space step of 0.25 mm, a time step of 0.05 ms, and anisotropic diffusion with coefficients of 0.002 cm<sup>2</sup> ms<sup>-1</sup> and 0.0005 cm<sup>2</sup> ms<sup>-1</sup> along fibres and transverse to fibres, respectively. The four images show repolarisation patterns during steady pacing at 500 ms intervals from an epicardial distribution of sites of earliest activation based on experimental data (Scher and Spach, 1979). The top two images show repolarisation with uniform epicardial cells, and the lower two images show repolarisation patterns obtained during steady pacing with layers of endocardial, mid-myocardial and epicardial cells, each of equal thickness. The right-hand panel shows a simulated electrocardiogram assuming the heart is immersed in an infinite volume conductor. The traces shown were computed for the uniform epicardial model (blue) and for the heterogeneous model (red), showing that the different pattern of repolarisation associated with heterogeneity produces an upright instead of a biphasic T wave. Courtesy of Dr. Richard Clayton.

for a FE implementation and the additional degrees of freedom, but a large proportion of it is because of the increased complexity of the cellular model (which, recall, is embedded at each node).

All of the simulators discussed so far in this section and in Section 5.4 use the monodomain model for the propagation of the electrical action potential (except for those of Kerckhoffs et al. (2005), where only the

activation time rather than the complete action potential is calculated, and Gurev et al. (2006), where the simulations are restricted to the tissue level and a two-dimensional geometry). This is because the numerical solution of the bidomain equations is 'computationally intensive' compared with that of the monodomain equations (Vigmond et al., 2002). The additional time required to solve the bidomain equations mean that they have not yet been implemented in a multi-physics whole heart (or whole ventricle) simulator. However, single-physics electrophysiological simulations using the bidomain equations and realistic heart geometries have been performed.

The group led by Trayanova have developed a bidomain simulator for the rabbit ventricle based on the UCSD geometry and fibre orientation (Trayanova, 2006). The model has been used to simulate cardiac defibrillation (Rodriguez et al., 2004, 2005; Trayanova, 2006) as well as the applications of mechanical impacts to initiate or terminate arrhythmias (Li et al., 2004, 2006). At the cellular level, the Trayanova group use Luo–Rudy-type models of varying complexity (including the Beeler–Reuter, LR1, LRd models). Ashihara et al. (2004) have extended the Nakazawa and Suzuki (2002) simulator to one that couples the bidomain model to an improved Luo–Rudy cardiac cell model (Faber and Rudy, 2000).

Vigmond et al. (2003) have written a package known as Cardiac Arrhythmia Research Package (CARP) for the simulation of the bidomain equations at a whole organ level. CARP is constructed in a modular way so that any cardiac cell model and FE mesh can be used at the cellular level. Plank et al. (2007) have used CARP with various cellular models to simulate defibrillation on the UCSD rabbit ventricular geometry of Vetter and McCulloch (1998) (see Fig. 4).

The modelling techniques used by both the Trayanova group and the developers of CARP are broadly similar and have been described by Vigmond et al. (2002), who evaluate a number of different techniques for the numerical solution of the bidomain equations. They suggest that they can be solved efficiently by decoupling the extra- and intra-cellular potentials and advancing in time using Euler's method for each in turn. The method is implemented in parallel using MPI. FE methods are preferred to finite differences or finite volumes since they can better deal with the irregular geometry, curved boundaries and inhomogeneous conductivity of the heart. Observe that these simulations of the bidomain equations use more complex cellular models than many of the monodomain simulators discussed above. The use of these more advanced cell models is possible because the reduced computational demands of a single physics simulator in comparison with a multi-physics one outweighs the increase in complexity that results from switching from a monodomain to a bidomain model.

Recent results (Plank et al., 2007) show that the diffusion solution in CARP can be further sped up by applying algebraic multi-grid preconditioning before running the conjugate gradient-based linear algebra solver to produce the intra- and extra-cellular voltages. The published benchmark test results are impressive, showing that CARP is faster than any of the other bidomain solvers. An impressive figure is that the parallel efficiency of the benchmark tests remains above 75% for up to 32 processors in a distributed memory cluster. The authors have tested CARP on up to 128 processors and have seen that parallel efficiency remains high (above 50%) on four 32-way nodes of the UK national high-performance computing facility HPCx.

However, it must be stressed that the simulation of real-world problems is still a computationally bound problem. The benchmarks use a simplified ionic cell model (Beeler and Reuter, 1977) but still take about 10 h of computation time to solve 200 ms (about half a beat of a rabbit's heart) on 16 processors. In order to model realistic disease, such as the onset of a heart attack, one would need to be able to calculate heart function over a period of at least 15 min (about 5000 times longer). Since most computational heart models are based on cardiac cells and heart geometry from relatively small mammals (rabbit, dog or pig) there is a further level of complication when it comes to modelling a human heart attack—the cell models contain about four times more parameters than the average rabbit cell model, the geometry is larger and the heart beat is slower.

#### 5.6. Future development

Clearly, major advances in the development of an effective heart simulator have been made in a short space of time ( $\sim$ 15 years), especially with regard to electrophysiology and, to a lesser extent, mechanics. Detailed models have been developed from the cellular to organ levels, coupled together and simulated on powerful computers to reproduce the dynamics of a beating (healthy) heart over short time periods or to study



#### Induction of Reentry

Fig. 4. A rabbit ventricular geometry model (Vetter and McCulloch, 1998) with smooth epicardial and endocardial surfaces and anatomically realistic fibre orientation was discretised using an unstructured grid with an average discretisation of 250 µm. The bidomain equations were discretised on this non-uniform grid using linear tetrahedral elements with a time step of 8 µs. The active membrane behaviour was described by the rabbit ventricular Puglisi model (Puglisi and Bers, 2001) incorporating an electroporation current (De Bruin and Krassowka, 1998) and a hypothetical  $I_a$  current (Cheng et al., 1999). Details of the applied numerical methods are found in Plank et al. (2007). Two plate electrodes, a stimulation electrode and a grounding electrode, were used to stimulate the ventricles by delivering a train of ten pulses (see top panel). Subsequently, electric activity was simulated for another 2 s. Simulations were carried out with  $C_m = 1 \,\mu\text{F cm}^{-2}$  and  $\beta = 1400 \,\text{cm}^{-1}$ . Initially, conductivity along the fibres was set to  $\sigma_{il} = 1.74 \,\text{mS cm}^{-1}$  and  $\sigma_{el} = 6.25 \,\text{mS cm}^{-1}$ , and transverse to the fibres to  $\sigma_{it} = 0.19 \,\text{mS cm}^{-1}$  and  $\sigma_{et} = 2.36 \,\text{mS cm}^{-1}$ . To determine suitable parameters which lead to a re-entry under the given protocol, the basic cycle length (BCL) of the pulses and the wave length of the tissue,  $\lambda$ , were varied. From the series of simulations, a standard was chosen with a BCL of 200 ms and  $\lambda$  reduced to 0.66 of the nominal  $\lambda$ , as computed with the default conductivity settings, leading to a sustained figure-of-eight re-entry circulating around the apex (see bottom panels). Courtesy of Dr. Gernot Plank.

defibrillation. However, much work still remains to be done in order to develop a multi-physics simulator that is sufficiently accurate—and sufficiently fast—for use in real-world applications involving coupling the electrophysiology and mechanics to models of the circulatory system and metabolism (perhaps *in silico* testing of drugs or personalised medicine). Such a simulator would likely need to use the bidomain equations as part of a multi-physics model. No such simulator exists at the moment. In order to model an abnormal heart or drug action (rather than a normally beating heart) it will also be necessary to develop models to describe unhealthy cardiac cells and tissue. These models are at a much less advanced stage (see the review by Bassingthwaighte et al., 2005).

One area in which significant advances could be made is in improving numerical methods. In a recent publication (Whiteley, 2006a), it is shown that the speed of the solution of the cell models can be vastly improved (the solution is computed roughly 15 times faster) by using implicit numerical methods for

integrating the differential equations. Furthermore, the use of partial evaluation and look-up tables (Cooper et al., 2006) may be used to increase efficiency by a further factor of five. Combining these speedups gives an overall speedup of 40. Further unpublished results by Whiteley suggest that, if one uses a judicious choice of a coarse spatial mesh combined with fine spatial meshes in places where cell activation is under way, it may be possible to speed computation up by a factor of 2500 (compared with computation on a fine mesh alone) with minimal loss of accuracy. The combination of all of Whiteley's and Cooper's techniques should provide a speed-up of several orders of magnitude. However, to our knowledge, only a few of these techniques have been implemented in the solution of real cardiac problems at the time of writing. We might speculate that a single processor could be able to solve 15 min of bidomain simulation time in less than a day of real time.

Should these speed-ups be realised, there are still computationally challenging problems to be solved. During a coronary occlusion (heart attack), portions of the heart tissue are starved of oxygen and become infarcted. Over the course of time, the functionality of neighbouring tissue adapts to the new environment, this phenomenon being known as re-modelling. Experimentalists have produced data from which models of healthy, infarcted and re-modelled tissue may be derived, but the longitudinal study of how tissue morphs from its healthy state is yet to be investigated. In order to model the variation of a single cell, we may need to augment the known cell models for healthy cells by providing many more parameters.

Re-modelling after an occlusion to the atria typically takes a day, whereas re-modelling after an occlusion to the ventricles (more likely to be fatal) continues over the course of several weeks. In the time following a heart attack, the victim becomes susceptible to cardiac arrhythmia. To counteract this susceptibility, clinicians may prescribe a drug treatment and/or allow the heart to be shocked by a pacemaker. The upshot is that to model properly the onset and treatment of cardiac infarction requires the solution of a bidomain simulation of the entire heart for weeks of simulation time, involving a more complicated (and as yet unknown) cell model together with the ion-channel effects of particular drug treatments. Such a simulation would be many orders of magnitude harder to solve than any recent studies and would still not provide the realism of electromechanical coupling or the flow of blood in the heart cavities and blood supply.

Another ambitious project, which is within the sights of computational cardiac modellers, is to run long-QT drug trials in computational models. At the present time, many potential prescription drugs fail to come to market because they are discovered to cause the side-effect of elongating the QT phase of the ECG in some patients. This side-effect (which is normally unrelated to the original clinical use of the drug) is dangerous because it may lead to cardiac arrhythmias and fibrillation in a significant population of people taking the medication. Clinical testing on humans occurs towards the end of the drug-development cycle after vast resources have already been spent. If computer models of cardiac function could be used earlier in the cycle in order to screen for long-QT syndrome, then the drug discovery process could be streamlined. In order to do this we would need to be able to run cardiac models for several weeks of simulation time, in healthy and diseased heart models, and to model the interaction of drugs at the cell-membrane level.

## 6. Discussion

In the previous two sections we have considered two contrasting approaches to the multi-scale computational modelling of biological problems. MD simulations have, until recently, usually been restricted to a single scale. At each length scale, advanced and very general simulation packages have been developed over a period of more than 20 years and are based on well established force-field models and solution algorithms. These packages can deal with a wide range of different types of problem (e.g. they are not specific to ion channels). The switch to a less detailed level of functionality (quantum to molecular to coarse-grained) occurs either when the simulations begin to require unrealistically large amounts of time to run or when the amount of memory required to calculate the solution exceeds that available. In heart modelling, on the other hand, much more work has been done on considering how to couple together models from different levels of biological organisation and from different physical processes. The models themselves are at a much more dynamic stage of development, with new models being proposed continuously. The software used to compute solutions of the model equations is also more *ad hoc* in nature than in MD, with almost every active research group writing their own packages to simulate their models.

In describing these two fields we have seen that significant strides have already been taken towards the efficient and accurate solution of multi-scale problems in the life sciences. Heart modellers have begun to develop efficient algorithms to couple together several very different models with two-way feedback, and then efficiently compute a numerical solution of the combined system. They are now beginning to see some of the computational issues that have already been addressed in MD (simulation times measured in weeks rather than hours and the need for more memory than is ever available). Similarly, the increasing use of multi-scale models in fields such as ion channel modelling is leading to researchers in MD being faced with problems similar to those already being considered in heart modelling. In both fields the use of parallel computing technology is extensively used to reduce the amount of time that is necessary in order to complete the simulation.

In the longer term we are likely to want to consider modelling on very long time scales or across the interface between stochastic and deterministic processes in order to understand how very low-level (molecular and macro-molecular) events can give rise to higher-level macroscopic behaviour. This type of work is beginning to be carried out in projects such as the Physiome Project of the International Union of Physiological Sciences (IUPS) (Kohl et al., 2000; Hunter et al., 2002; Hunter and Borg, 2003) that aims to construct a "quantitative description of the physiological dynamics and functional behaviour of the intact organism" (Bassingthwaighte, 1995). The requirements of projects such as these will give rise to new problems that have not been considered until now. Increased accuracy (both in the model and the numerical techniques used to solve it) is needed in order to simulate very long time scales to prevent the model solution from gradually drifting away from the true behaviour of the system as the simulation progresses. The causes of this drift can be difficult to identify as the problem will not manifest itself in short test runs of the simulator. Solutions related to the biology of the system, such as thermodynamically valid cell models, might be developed in order to reduce this drift. In order to model across the divide between stochastic and deterministic processes, it is possible that entirely new modelling techniques will have to be developed. However, the development of these techniques will likely be necessary in order to fully explain how molecular level interactions (between drugs and proteins) lead to whole organ phenomena such as the long-QT syndrome and, ultimately, the death of whole organisms. Finally, the computational requirements of simulating the very complex models that will result from these types of problem will require the use of very powerful, massively parallel supercomputers and the development of improved numerical algorithms to efficiently implement the parallelisation.

## Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Professor Mark Sansom and Dr. Blanca Rodriguez for valuable discussions, to Dr. Gernot Plank for sending a preprint of his work and for useful discussions, and to Elizabeth Cherry and Flavio Fenton, who provided the parameter set for the action potential model shown in Fig. 3 (by personal communication to Richard Clayton). D.S. acknowledges support from an EPSRC Life Sciences Interface Doctoral Training Centre studentship, and we thank the EPSRC for support through the eScience Pilot Project in Integrative Biology (GR/S72023/01).

#### References

Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., Walter, P., 2002. Molecular Biology of the Cell, fourth ed. Garland, New York. Ashihara, T., Namba, T., Ito, M., Ikeda, T., Nakazawa, K., Trayanova, N., 2004. Spiral wave control by a localized stimulus: a bidomain model study. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 11, 1386–1396.

- Bahar, I., Atilgan, A.R., Erman, B., 1997. Direct evaluation of thermal fluctuations in proteins using a single-parameter harmonic potential. Fold. Des. 2, 173–181.
- Bassingthwaighte, J.B., 1995. Toward modelling the human physionome. In: Sideman, S., Beyar, R. (Eds.), Molecular and Subcellular Cardiology: Effects on Structure and Function. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 445–461.
- Bassingthwaighte, J.B., Chizeck, H.J., Atlas, L.E., Qian, H., 2005. Multi-scale modeling of cardiac energetics. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1047, 395–426.
- Beckstein, O., Biggin, P.C., Bond, P., Bright, J.N., Domene, C., Grottesi, A., Holyoake, J., Sansom, M.S., 2003. Ion channel gating: insights via molecular simulations. FEBS Lett. 555, 85–90.

Beeler, G.W., Reuter, H., 1977. Reconstruction of action potential of ventricular myocardial fibres. J. Physiol. London 268, 177-210.

Bernèche, S., Roux, B., 2000. Molecular dynamics of the KcsA K<sup>+</sup> channel in a bilayer membrane. Biophys. J. 78, 2900–2917.

- Burrage, K., Tian, T., Burrage, P., 2004. A multi-scaled approach for simulating chemical reaction systems. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 85, 217–234.
- Burrowes, K.S., Tawhai, M.H., Hunter, P.J., 2004. Modelling RBC and neutrophil distribution through an anatomically based pulmonary capillary network. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 32, 585–595.
- Campbell, K.B., Razumova, M.V., Kirkpatrick, R.D., Slinker, B.K., 2001. Nonlinear myofilament regulatory processes affect frequency dependent muscle fiber stiffness. Biophys. J. 81, 2278–2296.
- Case, D.A., Darden, T.A., Cheatham, III, T.E., Simmerling, C.L., Wand, J., Duke, R.E., Luo, R., Merz, K.M., Pearlman, D.A., Crowley, M., Walker, R.C., Zhang, W., Wang, B., Hayik, S., Roitberg, A., Seabra, A., Wong, K.F., Paesani, F., Wu, X., Brozell, S., Tsui, V., Gohlke, H., Yang, L., Tan, C., Mongan, J., Hornak, V., Cui, C., Beroza, P., Mathews, D.H., Schafmeister, C., Ross, W.S., Kollman, P.A., 2006. AMBER 9, University of California, San Francisco.
- Chen, C.-Y., Byrne, H.M., King, J.R., 2001. The influence of growth-induced stress from the surrounding medium on the development of multicell spheroids. Math. Biol. 43, 191–220.
- Cheng, D., Tung, L., Sobie, E., 1999. Nonuniform responses of transmembrane potential during electric field stimulation of single cardiac cells. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 277, H351–H362.
- Cherry, E.M., Fenton, F.H., 2004. Suppression of alternans and conduction blocks despite steep APD restitution: electrotonic, memory and conduction velocity restitution effects. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 286, H2332–H2341.
- Cherry, E.M., Rappel, W.J., Evans, S.J., Fenton, F.H., 2003. Effects of wall heterogeneity in an anatomically realistic model of canine ventricles: a simulation study (Abstract). Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol. 26 (II), 1109.
- Chung, S.-H., Kuyucak, S., 2002. Recent advances in ion channel research. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1565, 267-286.
- Chung, S.-H., Allen, T.W., Hoyles, M., Kuyucak, S., 1999. Permeation of ions across the potassium channel: Brownian dynamics studies. Biophys. J. 77, 2517–2533.
- Clancy, C.E., Rudy, Y., 2002. Na<sup>+</sup> channel mutation that causes both Brugada and long-QT syndrome phenotypes: a simulation study of mechanism. Circulation 105, 1208–1213.
- Clayton, R.H., Holden, A.V., 2002. Computational framework for simulating the mechanisms and ECG of re-entrant ventricular fibrillation. Phys. Meas. 23, 707–726.
- Clayton, R.H., Holden, A.V., 2004. Filament behaviour in a computational model of ventricular fibrillation in the canine heart. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 51, 28–34.
- Clayton, R.H., Zuchkova, E.A., Panfilov, A.V., 2006. Phase singularities and filaments: simplifying complexity in computational models of ventricular fibrillation. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 90, 378–398.
- Clerc, L., 1976. Directional differences of impulse spread in trabecular muscle from mammalian heart. J. Physiol. 255, 335-346.
- Cooper, J., McKeever, S.W., Garny, A., 2006. On the application of partial evaluation to the optimisation of cardiac electrophysiological simulations. In: Proceedings of the 2006 ACM SIGPLAN Symposium on Partial Evaluation and Semantics-Based Program Manipulation, Charleston, SC.
- Corry, B., Kuyucak, S., Chung, S.-H., 2000. Tests of continuum theories as models of ion channels. II. Poisson–Nernst–Planck theory versus Brownian dynamics. Biophys. J. 78, 2364–2381.
- Crampin, E.J., Halstead, M., Hunter, P.J., Nielsen, P., Noble, D., Smith, N., Tawhai, M., 2004. Computational physiology and the physiome project. Exp. Physiol. 89, 1–26.
- DeBruin, K., Krassowska, W., 1998. Electroporation and shock-induced transmembrane potential in a cardiac fiber during defibrillation strength shocks. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 26, 584–596.
- DiFrancesco, D., Noble, D., 1985. A model of cardiac electrical activity incorporating ionic pumps and concentration changes. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London B 307, 353–398.
- Doyle, D.A., Morais-Cabral, J., Pfuetzner, R.A., Kuo, A., Gulbis, J.M., Cohen, S.L., Chait, B.T., MacKinnon, R., 1998. The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K<sup>+</sup> conduction and selectivity. Science 280, 69–77.
- Dumnet, M., Keener, J.P., 2003. A numerical method for solving anisotropic elliptic boundary problems in 3D. SIAM J. Sci. Comp. 25, 348–367.
- Efimov, I.R., Krinsky, V.I., Jalife, J., 1995. Dynamics of rotating vortices in the Beeler–Reuter model of cardiac tissue. Chaos Solitons Fractals 5, 513–526.
- Elber, R., 2005. Long-timescale simulation methods. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15, 144-150.
- Faber, G.M., Rudy, Y., 2000. Action potential and contractility changes in [Na<sup>+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> overloaded cardiac myocytes: a simulation study. Biophys. J. 78, 2392–2404.
- Fasano, A., Bertuzzi, A., Gandolfi, A., 2006. Mathematical modelling of tumour growth and treatment. In: Quarteroni, A., Formaggia, L., Veneziani, A. (Eds.), Complex Systems in Biomedicine. Springer, New York.
- Fenton, F., Karma, A., 1998. Vortex dynamics in three-dimensional continuous myocardium with fiber rotation: filament instability and fibrillation. Chaos 8, 20–47.
- Fenton, F., Cherry, E.M., Karma, A., Rappel, W.-J., 2005. Modelling wave propagation in realistic heart geometries using the phase-field method. Chaos 15, 15–25.
- FitzHugh, R., 1961. Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane. Biophys. J. 1, 445-466.
- Fox, J.J., McHarg, J.L., Gilmour, R.F., 2002. Ionic mechanism of electrical alternans. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 282, H516–H530.
- Fung, Y.C., 1993. Biomechanics: Mechanical Properties of Living Tissues, second ed. Springer, New York.

- Garny, A., Kohl, P., Noble, D., 2003. Cellular open resource (COR): a public CellML based environment for modelling biological function. Int. J. Bif. Chaos 13, 3579–3590.
- Gima, K., Rudy, Y., 2002. Ionic current basis of electrocardiographic waveforms: a model study. Circ. Res. 90, 889-896.
- Gumbart, J., Wang, Y., Aksimentiev, A., Tajkhorshid, E., Schulten, K., 2005. Molecular dynamics simulations of proteins in lipid bilayers. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15, 423–431.
- Gurev, V., Maleckar, M.M., Trayanova, N.A., 2006. Cardiac defibrillation and the role of mechanoelectric feedback in postshock arrhythmiogenesis. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1080, 320–333.
- Harel, D., 2004. A grand challenge for computing: full reactive modeling of a multi-cellular animal. Bull. EATCS 81, 226-253.
- Harel, D., 2005. A Turing-like test for biological modeling. Nat. Biotechnol. 23, 495-496.
- Healy, S.N., McCulloch, A.D., 2005. An ionic model of stretch-activated and stretch-modulated currents in rabbit ventricular myocytes. Europace 7, S128–S134.
- Henriquez, C.S., Trayanova, N., Plonsey, R., 1990. A planar slab bidomain model for cardiac tissue. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 18, 367-376.
- Hille, B., 2001. Ion Channels of Excitable Membranes, third ed. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA.
- Hodgkin, A.L., Huxley, A.F., 1952. A quantitative description of membrane current and its applications to conduction and excitation in nerve. J. Physiol. 117, 500–544.
- Humphrey, J.D., 2003. Continuum biomechanics of soft biological tissues. Proc. R. Soc. A 459, 3-46.
- Hunter, P.J., Borg, T.K., 2003. Integration from proteins to organs: the Physiome Project. Nat. Rev. 4, 237-243.
- Hunter, P.J., Smaill, B.H., Hunter, I.W., 1995. A 'pole-zero' constitutive law for myocardium. ASME J. Biochem. Eng. 382, 303-318.
- Hunter, P.J., McCulloch, A.D., ter Keurs, H.E.D.J., 1998. Modelling the mechanical properties of cardiac muscle. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 69, 289–331.
- Hunter, P.J., Robbins, P., Noble, D., 2002. The IUPS human physiome project. Eur. J. Physiol. 445, 1-9.
- International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2005. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. Nature 431, 931–945.
- Izvekov, S., Voth, G.A., 2005. A multiscale coarse-graining method for biomolecular systems. J. Phys. Chem. B 109, 2469-2473.
- Jensen, F., 2006. Introduction to Computational Chemistry, second ed. Wiley, New York.
- Kassab, G.S., Fung, Y.-C.B., 1994. Topology and dimensions of pig coronary capillary network. Am. J. Physiol. 267, H319–H325.
- Kassab, G.S., Rider, C.A., Tang, N.J., Fung, Y.-C.B., 1993. Morphometry of pig coronary arterial trees. Am. J. Physiol. 265, H350–H365. Keener, J.P., Snevd, J., 1998. Mathematical Physiology. Springer, New York.
- Kerckhoffs, R.C.P., Bovendeerd, P.H.M., Kotte, J.C.S., Prinzen, F.W., Smits, K., Arts, T., 2003. Homogeneity of cardiac contraction despite physiological asynchrony of depolarization: a model study. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 31, 536–547.
- Kerckhoffs, R.C.P., Faris, O.P., Bovendeerd, P.H.M., Prinzen, F.W., Smits, K., McVeigh, E.R., Arts, T., 2005. Electromechanics of paced left ventricle simulated by straightforward mathematical model: comparison with experiments. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Phys. 289, H1889–H1897.
- Kerckhoffs, R.C.P., Healy, S.N., Usyk, T.P., McCulloch, A.D., 2006. Computational methods for cardiac electrophysiology. Proc. IEEE 94, 769–783.
- Kitano, H., 2002. Systems biology: a brief overview. Science 295, 1662-1664.
- Kohl, P., Hunter, P., Noble, D., 1999. Stretch-induced changes in heart rate and rhythm: clinical observations, experiments, and mathematical models. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 71, 91–138.
- Kohl, P., Noble, D., Winslow, R.L., Hunter, P.J., 2000. Computational modelling of biological systems: tools and visions. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London A 358, 579–610.
- Kuyucak, S., Anderson, O., Chung, S.-H., 2001. Models of permeation in ion channels. Rep. Prog. Phys. 64, 1427–1472.
- Lai, M.-C., Peskin, C.S., 2000. An immersed boundary method with formal second-order accuracy and reduced numerical viscosity. J. Comput. Phys. 160, 705–719.
- LeGrice, I.J., Smaill, B.H., Chai, L.Z., Edgar, S.G., Gavin, J.B., Hunter, P.J., 1995. Laminar structure of the heart: ventricular myocoyte arrangement and connective tissue architecture in the dog. Am. J. Physiol. 269, H571–H582.
- Levitt, D.G., 1999. Modeling of ion channels. J. Gen. Physiol. 113, 789-794.
- Li, W., Kohl, P., Trayanova, N., 2004. Induction of ventricular arrhythmias following mechanical impact: a simulation study in 3D. J. Mol. Histol. 35, 679–686.
- Li, W., Kohl, P., Trayanova, N., 2006. Myocardial ischemia lowers precordial thump efficacy: an inquiry into mechanisms using threedimensional simulations. Heart Rhythm 3, 179–186.
- Lin, D.H.S., Yin, F.C.P., 1998. A multiaxial constitutive law for mammalian left ventricular myocardium in steady-state barium contracture or tetanus. J. Biomech. Eng. 120, 504–516.
- Lindahl, E., Hess, B., van der Spoel, D., 2001. GROMACS 3.0: a package for molecular simulation and trajectory analysis. J. Mol. Mod. 7, 306–317.
- Lloyd, C.M., Halstead, M.D.B., Nielsen, P.F., 2004. CellML: its future, present and past. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 85, 433-450.
- Luo, C.H., Rudy, Y., 1991. A model of the ventricular cardiac action potential. Depolarization, repolarization and their interaction. Circ. Res. 68, 1501–1526.
- Luo, C.H., Rudy, Y., 1994a. A dynamic model of the cardiac ventricular action potential. I. Simulations of ionic currents and concentration changes. Circ. Res. 74, 1071–1096.
- Luo, C.H., Rudy, Y., 1994b. A dynamic model of the cardiac ventricular action potential. II. After depolarizations, triggered activity and potentiation. Circ. Res. 74, 1097–1113.

- MacKerell Jr., A.D., Brooks, B., Brooks III, C.L., Nilsson, L., Roux, B., Won, Y., Karplus, M., 1998. CHARMM: the energy function and its parameterization with an overview of the program. In: Schleyer, P.V.R., Allinger, N.L., Clark, T., Gasteiger, J., Kollman, P., Schaefer III, H.F., Schreiner, P.R. (Eds.), The Encyclopedia of Computational Chemistry, vol. 1. Wiley, Chichester, pp. 271–277.
- Mashl, R.J., Tang, Y., Schnitzer, J., Jakobssen, E., 2001. Hierarchical approach to predicting permeation in ion channels. Biophys. J. 81, 2473–2483.
- Matsuoka, S., Sarai, N., Kuratomi, S., Ono, K., Noma, A., 2003. Role of individual ionic current systems in ventricular cells hypothesized by a model study. Jpn. J. Physiol. 53, 105–123.
- McAllister, R.E., Noble, D., Tsien, R.W., 1975. Reconstruction of the electrical activity of cardiac Purkinje fibres. J. Physiol. 251, 1-59.
- McQueen, D.M., Peskin, C.S., 2000. A three-dimensional computer model of the human heart for studying cardiac fluid dynamics. Comput. Graph. 34, 56–60.
- Miller III, T.F., Clary, D.C., 2004. Quantum free energies of the conformers of glycine on an ab initio potential energy surface. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 6, 2563–2571.
- Mitchell, R.H., Bailey, A., Anderson, J., 1992. Cellular automaton model of ventricular fibrillation. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 39, 253-259.
- Moe, G.K., Abildskov, J.A., Han, J., 1964. A computer model of atrial fibrillation. Am. Heart J. 67, 200-220.
- Moy, G., Corry, B., Kuyucak, S., Chung, S.-H., 2000. Tests of continuum theories as models of ion channels. I. Poisson–Boltzmann theory versus Brownian dynamics. Biophys. J. 78, 2349–2363.
- Nagumo, J., Arimoto, S., Yoshizawa, S., 1962. An active pulse transmission line simulating nerve axon. Proc. IRE 50, 2061–2070.
- Nakazawa, K., Suzuki, T., 2002. Virtual heart: a comprehensive simulation and visualization of electrophysiological phenomena in the heart. In: CD-ROM Proceedings of the Japan Korea Computer Graphics Conference (JKCGC 2002), Kanazawa University, Ishikawa, Japan.
- Negroni, J.A., Lascano, E.C., 1996. A cardiac muscle model relating sarcomere dynamics to calcium kinetics. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 28, 915–929.
- Nickerson, D.P., Smith, N.P., Hunter, P.J., 2001. A model of cardiac cellular electromechanics. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London A 359, 1159–1172.
- Nickerson, D., Smith, N., Hunter, P., 2005. New developments in a strongly coupled cardiac electromechanical model. Europace 7, S118–S127.
- Nielsen, P.M.F., LeGrice, I.J., Smaill, B.H., Hunter, P.J., 1991. Mathematical-model of geometry and fibrous structure of the heart. Am. J. Physiol. 260, H2466–H2476.
- Noble, D., 1960. Cardiac action and pacemaker potential based on the Hodgkin-Huxley equations. Nature 188, 495-497.
- Noble, D., 2002. Modeling the heart-from genes to cells to the whole organ. Science 295, 1678-1682.
- Noble, D., Rudy, Y., 2001. Models of cardiac ventricular action potentials: iterative interaction between experiment and simulation. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London A 359, 1127–1142.
- Noble, D., Varghese, A., Kohl, P., Noble, P., 1998. Improved guinea-pig ventricular cell model incorporating a diadic space, *i*<sub>kr</sub> and *i*<sub>ks</sub>, length- and tension-dependent processes. Can. J. Cardiol. 14, 123–134.
- Nygren, A., Fiset, C., Firek, L., Clark, J.W., Lindblad, D.S., Clark, R.B., Giles, W.R., 1998. Mathematical model of an adult human atrial cell: the role of K<sup>+</sup> currents in repolarization. Circ. Res. 82, 63–81.
- Panfilov, A., Holden, A., 1993. Computer simulation of re-entry sources in myocardium in two and three dimensions. J. Theoret. Biol. 161, 271–285.
- Panfilov, A., Keener, J., 1993. Re-entry generation in anisotropic twisted myocardium. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 4, 412-421.
- Phillips, J.C., Braun, R., Wang, W., Gumbart, J., Tajkhorshid, E., Villa, E., Chipot, C., Skeel, R.D., Kale, L., Schulten, K., 2005. Scalable molecular dynamics with NAMD. J. Comp. Chem. 26, 1781–1802.
- Plank, G., Liebmann, R., Weber dos Santos, R., Vigmond, E.J., 2007. Algebraic multigrid preconditioner for the cardiac bidomain model. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 54, 584–597.
- Plonsey, R., 1988. Bioelectric sources arising in excitable fibres (ALZA lecture). Ann. Biomed. Eng. 16, 519-546.
- Preziosi, L. (Ed.), 2003. Cancer Modelling and Simulation. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Puglisi, J., Bers, D., 2001. LabHEART: An interactive computer model of rabbit ventricular myocyte ion channels and Ca transport. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 281, C2049–C2060.
- Pullan, A.J., Buist, M.L., Sands, G.B., Cheng, L.K., Smith, N.P., 2003. Cardiac electrical activity—from heart to body surface and back again. J. Electrocardiol. 36, 63–67.
- Qu, Z.L., Kil, K., Xie, F.G., Garfinkel, A., Weiss, J.N., 2000. Scroll wave dynamics in a three-dimensional cardiac tissue model: roles of restitution, thickness and fibre rotation. Biophys. J. 78, 2761–2775.
- Rega, N., Iyengar, S.S., Voth, G.A., Schlegel, H.B., Vreven, T., Frisch, M.J., 2004. Hybrid ab-initio/empirical molecular dynamics: combining the ONIOM scheme with the atom-centered density matrix propagation (ADMP) approach. J. Phys. Chem. B 108, 4210–4220.
- Restivo, M., Craelius, W., Gough, W.B., El-Sherif, N., 1990. A logical state model of re-entrant ventricular activation. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 37, 344–353.
- Riley, S., Fraser, C., Donnelly, C.A., Ghani, A.C., Abu-Raddad, L.J., Hedley, A.J., Leung, G.M., Ho, L.-M., Lam, T.-H., Thach, T.Q., Chau, P., Chan, K.-P., Lo, S.-V., Leung, P.-Y., Tsang, T., Ho, W., Lee, K.-H., Lau, E.M.C., Ferguson, N.M., Anderson, R.M., 2003. Transmission dynamics of the etiological agent of SARS in Hong Kong: impact of public health interventions. Science 300, 1961–1966.
- Rodriguez, B., Tice, B.M., Eason, J.C., Aguel, F., Trayanova, N., 2004. Cardiac vulnerability to electric shocks during phase 1A of acute global ischemia. Heart Rhythm 1, 695–703.

- Rodriguez, B., Li, L., Eason, J.C., Efimov, I.R., Trayanova, N.A., 2005. Differences between left and right ventricular chamber geometry affect cardiac vulnerability to electric shocks. Circ. Res. 97, 168–175.
- Roux, B., 2005. Ion conduction and selectivity in K<sup>+</sup> channels. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 34, 153–171.
- Rudy, Y., Silva, J.R., 2006. Computational biology in the study of cardiac ion channels and cell electrophysiology. Q. Rev. Biophys. 39, 57–116.
- Sachse, F.B., Seemann, G., Chaisaowong, K., Weiss, D., 2003. Quantitative reconstruction of cardiac electromechanics in human myocardium: assembly of electrophysiological and tension generation models. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 14, S210–S218.
- Scher, A.M., Spach, M.S., 1979. Cardiac depolarisation and repolarisation and the electrocardiogram. In: Page, E., Fozzard, H.A., Solaro, R.J. (Eds.), Handbook of Physiology—The Cardiovascular System, vol. 1. American Physiological Society, Baltimore, pp. 357–392.
- Scherer, P.W., Gobran, S., Aukburg, S.J., Baumgardner, J.E., Bartowski, R., Neufeld, G.R., 1988. Numerical and experimental study of steady-state CO<sub>2</sub> and inert gas washout. J. Appl. Physiol. 64, 1022–1029.
- Schlick, T., 2002. Molecular Modeling and Simulation: An Interdisciplinary Guide. Springer, New York, NY.
- Schnell, S., Grima, R., Maini, P.K., 2007. Multi-scale modeling in biology. Am. Sci. 95, 134-142.
- Sepulveda, N.G., Roth, B.J., Wikswo Jr., J.P., 1989. Current injection into a two-dimensional anisotropic bidomain. Biophys. J. 55, 989–999.
- Shao, Y., Molnar, L.F., Jung, Y., Kussmann, J., Ochsenfeld, J., Brown, S.T., Gilbert, A.T.B., Slipchenko, L.V., Levchenko, S.V., O'Neill, D.P., DiStasio Jr., R.A., Lochan, R.C., Wang, T., Beran, G.J.O., Besley, N.A., Herbert, J.M., Lin, C.Y., Van Voorhis, T., Chien, S.H., Sodt, A., Steele, R.P., Rassolov, V.A., Maslen, P.E., Korambath, P.P., Adamson, R.D., Austin, B., Baker, J., Byrd, E.F.C., Dachsel, H., Doerksen, R.J., Dreuw, A., Dunietz, B.D., Dutoi, A.D., Furlani, T.R., Gwaltney, S.R., Heyden, A., Hirata, S., Hsu, C.-P., Kedziora, G., Khalliulin, R.Z., Klunzinger, P., Lee, A.M., Lee, M.S., Liang, W., Lotan, I., Nair, N., Peters, B., Proynov, E.I., Pieniazek, P.A., Rhee, Y.M., Ritchie, J., Rosta, E., Sherrill, C.D., Simmonett, A.C., Subotnik, J.E., Woodcock III, H.L., Zhang, W., Bell, A.T., Chakraborty, A.K., Chipman, D.M., Keil, F.J., Warshel, A., Hehre, W.J., Schaefer III, H.F., Kong, J., Krylov, A.I., Gill, P.M.W., Head-Gordon, M., 2006. Advances in methods and algorithms in a modern quantum chemistry program package. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 8, 3172–3191.
- Shi, Q., Izvekov, S., Voth, G.A., 2006. Mixed atomistic and coarse-grained molecular dynamics: simulation of a membrane-bound ion channel. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 15045–15048.
- Shrivastava, I.H., Bahar, I., 2006. Common mechanism of pore opening shared by five different potassium channels. Biophys. J. 90, 3929–3940.
- Shrivastava, I.H., Sansom, M.S., 2000. Simulations of ion permeation through a potassium channel: molecular dynamics of KcsA in a phospholipid bilayer. Biophys. J. 78, 557–570.
- Smith, N.P., Pullan, A.J., Hunter, P.J., 2000. Generation of an anatomically based geometric coronary model. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 28, 14–25.
- Smith, N.P., Pullan, A.J., Hunter, P.J., 2002. An anatomically based model of transient coronary blood flow in the heart. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 62, 990–1018.
- Smith, N.P., Nickerson, D.P., Crampin, E.J., Hunter, P.J., 2004. Multi-scale computational modelling of the heart. Acta Numer. 13, 371–431.
- Snow, C.D., Sorin, E.J., Rhee, Y.M., Pande, V.S., 2005. How well can simulation predict protein folding kinetics and thermodynamics? Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 34, 43–69.
- States, D.J., Omenn, G.S., Blackwell, T.W., Fermin, D., Eng, J., Speicher, D.W., Hanash, S.M., 2006. Challenges in deriving highconfidence protein identifications from data gathered by a HUPO plasma proteome collaborative study. Nat. Biotechnol. 24, 333–338.
- Stevens, C., Hunter, P.J., 2003. Sarcomere length changes in a 3-D mathematical model of the pig ventricles. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 82, 229–241.
- Tawhai, M.H., Pullan, A.J., Hunter, P.J., 2000. Generation of an anatomically based three-dimensional model of the conducting airways. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 28, 793–802.
- Thøgersen, L., Olsen, J., 2004. A coupled cluster and full configuration interaction study of CN and CN<sup>-</sup>. Chem. Phys. Lett. 393, 36–43. Tieleman, D.P., 2006. Computer simulations of transport through membranes: passive diffusion, pores, channels and transporters. Clin.
- Exp. Pharm. Physiol. 33, 893-903.
- Tieleman, D.P., Biggin, P.C., Smith, G.R., Sansom, M.S.P., 2001. Simulation approaches to ion channel structure-function relationships. Q. Rev. Biophys. 34, 473–561.
- Tirion, M., 1996. Large amplitude elastic motions in proteins from a single-parameter, atomic analysis. Phys. Rev. Lett. 77, 1905–1908.
- Tomlinson, K.A., Hunter, P.J., Pullan, A.J., 2002. A finite-element method for an eikonal equation model of myocardial excitation wavefront propagation. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 63, 324–350.
- Tozzini, V., 2005. Coarse grained models for proteins. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15, 144-150.
- Trayanova, N., 2006. Defibrillation of the heart: insights into mechanisms from modelling studies. Exp. Physiol. 91, 323-337.
- Usyk, T.P., McCulloch, A.D., 2003. Relationship between regional shortening and asynchronous electrical activation in a threedimensional model of ventricular electromechanics. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 14, S196–S202.
- Usyk, T.P., Mazhari, R., McCulloch, A.D., 2000. Effect of laminar orthotropic myofiber architecture on regional stress and strain in the canine left ventricle. J. Elasticity 61, 143–164.
- Usyk, T.P., LeGrice, I.J., McCulloch, A.D., 2002. Computational model of three-dimensional cardiac electromechanics. Comput. Vis. Sci. 4, 249–257.

- van der Spoel, D., Lindahl, E., Hess, B., Groenhof, G., Mark, A.E., Berendsen, H.J.C., 2005. GROMACS: fast, flexible and free. J. Comp. Chem. 26, 1701–1718.
- Vetter, F., McCulloch, A., 1998. Three-dimensional analysis of regional cardiac function: a model of rabbit ventricular anatomy. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 69, 157–183.
- Vigmond, E.J., Aguel, F., Trayanova, N.A., 2002. Computational techniques for solving the bidomain equations in three dimensions. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 49, 1260–1269.
- Vigmond, E.J., Hughes, M., Plank, G., Leon, L.J., 2003. Computational tools for modeling electrical activity in cardiac tissue. J. Electrocardiol. 36 (Suppl.), 69-74.
- Watanabe, H., Sugiura, S., Kafuku, H., Hisada, T., 2004. Multi-physics simulation of left ventricular filling dynamics using fluid-structure interaction finite element method. Biophys. J. 87, 2074–2085.
- Werner, E., 2005. Meeting report: the future and limits of systems biology. Sci. STKE 5, pe16.
- Whiteley, J.P., 2006a. An efficient numerical technique for the solution of the monodomain and bidomain equations. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 53, 2139–2147.
- Whiteley, J.P., 2006b. Some factors affecting pulmonary oxygen transport. Math. Biosci. 202, 115–132.
- Whiteley, J.P., Turner, M.J., Baker, A.B., Gavaghan, D.J., Hahn, C.E.W., 2002. The effects of ventilation pattern on carbon dioxide transfer in three computer models of the airways. Respir. Physiol. Neurol. 131, 269–284.
- Winslow, R.L., Varghese, A., Noble, D., Adlakha, C., Hoythya, A., 1993. Generation and propagation of ectopic beats induced by spatially localized Na-K pump inhibition in atrial network models. Proc. R. Soc. B 254, 55-61.
- Winslow, R.L., Scollan, D.F., Holmes, A., Yung, C.K., Zhang, J., Jafri, M.S., 2000. Electrophysiological modeling of cardiac ventricular function: from cell to organ. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2, 119–155.
- Xia, L., Huo, M.M., Wei, Q., Liu, F., Crozier, S., 2005. Analysis of cardiac ventricular wall motion based on a three-dimensional electromechanical biventricular model. Phys. Med. Biol. 50, 1901–1917.
- Zabel, M.S., Portnoy, S., Franz, M., 1996. Effect of sustained load on dispersion of ventricular repolarization and conduction time in the isolated intact rabbit heart. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 7, 9–16.
- Zhang, Q., Hisada, T., 2001. Analysis of fluid–structure interaction problems with structural buckling and large domain changes by ALE finite element method. Comput. Methods, Appl. Mech. Eng. 190, 6341–6357.